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Simply stated, my old friend Suhotra Swami was Krishna conscious. What does that mean? It means that wherever he cast his eye, on whatever object his vision rested, that sight opened up a flood of thoughts that would drift from that object to the spiritual sky. Sometimes the route was a winding road, and those who could not follow along for whatever reason might cry foul. But what emerges from his very personal and insightful “inner vision” (“In2-MeC”) that constitutes the many facets of his journal is that he was eager to share each realization with his disciples and the world. He took his role as their spiritual master very seriously and he never collected disciples to show “guru prowess.” And he expected his initiates to be just as serious in taking instructions.

His journal is a long and winding road with many stops along the way. To quote Paul McCartney, “You left me standing here a long, long time ago.” I think anyone who reads this journal will from time to time find himself or herself “left standing here” now and then—at least for a few moments. The Maharaja plying his road to Krishna not an easy “act to follow.”

In In2-MeC we see in every direction how Suhotra Swami peered into the unique “purports” of life’s facets. But in each instance—whether he ventured into the realms of sociology, philosophy, medicine, literature, film, science, psychology, Western or Oriental philosophy, religion, Vedic literature or Gaudiya  shastra and Shri Krishna Vraja-lila—the end-game was always one. His long and winding road inevitably takes the reader to the lotus feet of the Supreme Personality of Godhead. And that goal was always arrived at, as he continually reminded us, through the mercy of his spiritual master Shrila Prabhupada.

I first met Suhotra Swami as Roger at ISKCON Press Boston in 1971 where I was the bookbinder. Several times he asked to become my assistant. It would be decades later, when reading this journal, that I could understand why. He states in his entry of 19 March 2003 that he joined Shrila Prabhupada’s movement due to reading a Back to Godhead which he purchased from the street sankirtana devotees in Detroit. He felt that those who worked to produce the magazine must be the most advanced in the philosophy. So he hitchhiked the five hundred miles to Boston’s ISKCON Press specifically to sign up as a brahmachari servant of the mission. 
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Suhotra dasa Brahmachari, Boston ISKCON 1971
Our Hare Krishna temple on North Beacon Street had been an old funeral parlor, and the bookbindery was in the cold, damp and haunted basement. Therefore seeing that I had practically the worst job in the press, handbinding the books and folding and hand cutting the magazines in that dank environment, he felt an urge to assist me. Right away he understood the teachings of Mahaprabhu—become the insignificant servant of the insignificant servant to please Krishna. As it turned out, he never actually became my assistant, he went out on sankirtana instead to give others the chance that receiving a Back to Godhead had given him. Suhotra Maharaja quickly became a leading figure in the Krishna consciousness movement. But to this day whenever I think of Suhotra—even then as Roger—I see him as a kind of winged angel incarnate in that old Boston basement lovingly watching over me.
Fast forward to 2008. I had not seen Suhotra Maharaja for nearly four decades and for both of us a lot of water had flowed under the bridge. Now I was in San Francisco driving a Yellow Cab where I met a husband and wife devotee couple from Moldova. Also taxi drivers, they informed me about his disappearance. Sadly they explained how he had left this world with a Shrimad-Bhagavatam on his lap and his hand in his japa bag. At once bells rang in my head in revelation. It was an epiphany—a sign that flashed before me like a bolt of lightning. In fact, my life radically changed soon thereafter for much the better. My old friend Suhotra, the angel in the basement, was still looking after me. And, yes, I do believe in miracles. 
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Suhotra Maharaja usually calls In2-MeC his “journal” rather than his diary, though the meaning is about the same. Journal comes from the French journee, for “day,” or “a day of travel, as in journey.” In his wit he chose to name his journal In2-MeC which has a suspicious number of elements that reflect E=MC2. Each daily entry of his journal spanning two years reveals another side of his ingenious formula. He was a bhakti-absorbed Einstein if you will. Practically the entire journal is presented here formatted in book form—I have refrained from editing his pristine English composition. For In2-MeC fans I have added a Table of Contents for easy research—and a few pictures (I don’t think he will mind).

Since I first learned of the news of Suhotra Swami’s transcendental departure for the Lord’s Spiritual Kingdom in his Mayapura hut, it has been a long and winding road for me also. But anyone who follows the journeys of his journal will likewise find blessings lingering around each bend. That long and winding road brought me to his old preaching ground of Bulgaria in 2008 where I have been living happily married to his disciple Shrimati Abhaya Mudra Dasi ever since. 

The over two thousand pages of In2-MeC here represents only two years of thoughtful writing—and that, too, during a grueling schedule of traveling and preaching. Had His Holiness continued, who can count the number of volumes he would have produced to discuss the one central subject of Krishna consciousness from thousands and thousands of angles? In looking back at my Godbrother’s service to Shri Guru Maharaja, I can say that while perhaps a few matched his devotion, none matched his intellect.

And, as Paul McCartney’s song continues on …

The long and winding road,
That leads to your door
Will never disappear,
I’ve seen that road before.
It always leads me here—
Lead me to you door.

-Patita Pavana dasa Adhikary,

Abhaya Ashram, Blagoevgrad, Bulgaria, 1st January 2019
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 7 January 2003
Dreaming of Shrila Prabhupada
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In 1978 I had an extremely vivid dream of Srila Prabhupada. It opened with me finding myself in a forest at night. Up ahead I saw an encampment—a group of persons seated in a ring around a fire under a very large tree. I came nearer and discerned these men to be sadhus. All at once I was astounded to see that on a simple wooden platform placed in the center of the group sat Srila Prabhupada! He was wrapped from head to foot in a brown chaddar. I ran forward and fell prostrate in the dust, His Divine Grace on my left, the campfire on my right. Not only did I fall into dust, but into shock as well. My sweet Lord, Srila Prabhupada is here again! 

I raised my head to see him smiling reassuringly at me, his face glowing yet ancient-looking in the dancing firelight, his eyes sparkling yet dark like glistening pools of oil. I couldnt find a word to say to him. But the only thought on my mind was, “How can I serve you, Srila Prabhupada?” In 1978 that was a profound and at the same time poignant question, now that His Divine Grace had physically departed this world. He nodded his head from side to side in his characteristic manner and, still smiling, said only this to me:

“Why don’t you write?”
I awoke. Stunned, I could not take what I had just experienced as anything less than a direct darshan of my spiritual master. I had just gotten from him, in all my worthlessness, a direct order. 
Since that time I labored to fulfill that order by writing three books that were published in the 1990’s. This e-journal, appearing here under the title In2-MeC, is in further pursuance of that order. (If you find the title puzzling, well, think about it!) I call it a journal but I will not be limited to merely recording the things I am doing “in real time.” Here, I’ll be writing. For Prabhupada. 

When I was in high school and college I used to think I was blessed with a talent to write. But in fact it is only a blessing if you can write for Prabhupada and Krishna. It is a curse to write for one’s own self. My very senior Godbrother, His Grace Brahmananda Prabhu, related to me that the only time he saw Srila Prabhupada actually curse someone was when a gifted disciple turned down writing for Prabhupada to write for himself. Srila Prabhupada offered that, If you desire to make a name for yourself as an author, we can give you all the credit for writing Nectar of Devotion, which is ready for publication. This person refused, got to his feet and turned to walk away from the spiritual master of the universe. In transcendental anger, Srila Prabhupada called after him, “Those who are envious and mischievous, who are the lowest among men, I perpetually cast into the ocean of material existence, into various demoniac species of life. Attaining repeated birth amongst the species of demoniac life, O son of Kunti, such persons can never approach Me. Gradually they sink down into the most abominable type of existence.” His Divine Grace actually cited only the Sanskrit of these verses (Bg 16.19-20), but there you have the meaning. And indeed this person sank into abomination and many years later died most painfully of AIDS.
Save me, Srila Prabhupada! Please accept this attempt to serve your lotus feet. 

All right, so since it is a journal too, what am I doing “in real time” these days? (Let’s not forget, time is Krishna! We have to spend it for Him.) Since December 31 I have been in this city of Mahalaksmi, Kolhapur, which Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu visited to have the darshan of the enchanting deity of the Goddess of Fortune who resides here in separation from Lord Vaikuntha Isvara (Venkateshwara, or Balaji, who dwells at Tirupati in Andra Pradesh). I will be here until the end of January. There is a community here of several hundred ISKCON devotees and congregation. Hence, I have ample opportunities for preaching. Ive spoken at a Krishna conscious New Year’s festival to some ‘five hundred celebrants, given a number of classes on Bhagavad-gita, and am now holding a four-day seminar on chanting the holy name, going through the eleven verses of Kali Santarana Upanisad. 

The association here is very blissful. I hope in the next few days I can acquaint my readers more intimately with the Kolhapur devotees. 

As per my usual routine, I worship shaligram every morning with puja and a yajna. That takes about two and a half hours. More about that some other time. I do several hours of study each day too. I have a lot of verses I want to learn within the next two years.
The First Time I Met Shrila Prabhupada

You may have seen my Godsister Mahamaya Devi Dasi’s book, Srila Prabhupada is Coming! My Personal Memories of His Divine Grace A. C. Bhaktivedanta Swami Prabhupada. Therein she recalls that she joined the Boston ISKCON temple in January, 1971. At that time, ISKCON Boston was located at 40 North Beacon Street in Allston. The building, a three-storey weatherboard house, still stands today. ISKCON Boston, of course, is now located on the more fashionable Commonwealth Avenue. 
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I had joined that North Beacon Street temple a few months before Mahamaya Devi Dasi. Actually, I must admit I don’t remember her (Emily, as she was known in those days). I was a temple devotee, she was a press devotee, and she moved to New York with the ISKCON Press in April ‘71. In any case, her book is most valuable for my writing of this story, for she accurately records dates that I’d long forgotten. 

After the press pulled out, Satsvarupa dasa Adhikari remained temple president for several more months until he relocated to Dallas by Srila Prabhupada’s order. The vice president was Harer Nama Prabhu, whom I greatly respected. Rukmini Devi Dasi, wife of Bharadvaja Prabhu, stayed on for a while as pujari. 

Most of the rest of us were uninitiated, and we were just a handful—Audry, Rosemary, Carol, Carolannie, Thomas, Larry, Jill, James, Barbara, Donna, Paul, Martin, Victor, Nancy, Jody, Joseph, and me, Roger. Though I was just “Roger Prabhu” (we did not use the terms “bhakta” or “bhaktin” then), I was the cook of quantity prasadam for the devotees. The few initiated devotees shared the Deity cooking for Their Lordships Jagannatha, Baladeva and Subhadra. 

In July 1971, Srila Prabhupada flew in from Detroit to install Sri Sri Radha-Gopiballabha and to give initiations. He stayed in Boston three days, then flew to the Henry Street temple in Brooklyn, New York. 

He arrived on an afternoon flight. That morning, the Boston temple was transcendentally stampeded by the lotus feet of 150 devotees who poured in from New York, Philadelphia, and other places I’ve forgotten. It was my service to cook lunch for all of them. And it was their service to receive Srila Prabhupada at the airport, leaving me to clean alone a kitchen in more disarray than I’d seen it for a long time. I remember I had forty-five minutes to do the whole job before Srila Prabhupada was expected to walk into the temple. I’d heard that His Divine Grace would sometimes make surprise inspections of the temples he would visit. So I prayed to Krishna to empower me. And I guess He did, because when I finished that kitchen was cleaner than the clean it had been early that morning, before cooking began. But oh, how I wished I could have gone to the airport with the others!

As I raced around like a madman scrubbing everything in sight, a strange thing happened. I became aware of a faint kirtan. It sounded like a large gathering of devotees chanting the holy names, but from somewhere on the outer edge of my consciousness. Was it an ethereal phenomenon or just an audio tape that someone was playing somewhere else in the building? Now, I was pretty sure there was nobody in the temple except for poor old me, the kitchen-walla. At one point I even took a quick dash through the building to find out where this sound might be coming from. I thought that if it was a tape, the person playing it could help me clean the kitchen. But I saw no one. And no matter where I went, I seemed to get no closer to nor farther away from the source of the kirtan. It remained hardly more than a murmur at the limit of my hearing. 

Well, I had no time to bother about it. Srila Prabhupada was coming! I finished the kitchen, ran up the back stairs into the men’s bathroom and jumped into the shower. The water splashing onto my head blocked out all other sounds. When I shut the water off, I heard the same kirtan, now loud and clear in the temple room, which like the bathrooms was on the middle floor of the building. This was the sound of Srila Prabhupada’s arrival! 

In a frenzy I toweled myself off, stabbed some tilak on my body and jumped into a dhoti and kurta. Bolting from the bathroom through the hallway, I faced the side entrance of the temple room. (The main entrance, used by Srila Prabhupada and all the devotees, was a stairway leading up from the building’s ground floor front door. The side entrance was a folding “accordian” door on the next floor.) I yanked the door open in time to see Srila Prabhupada bow down before Lord Jagannatha’s altar. My first direct vision of His Divine Grace!
The temple room was packed. After bowing down, I sat scrunched against a corner wall right there at the side entrance. Meanwhile, Srila Prabhupada was being shown his Vyasasana at the “back” of the temple room (i. e. the side of the room opposite the altar). He gracefully seated himself, gazed kindly around the expectant assembly of devotees, then closed his eyes. With a humble expression on his face, he began his arrival lecture. 

The accordian door next to me opened. Harer Nama Prabhu stepped through holding a large metal plate of assorted cut fruits. Seeing me first, he handed the plate to me and whispered, “Offer this to Srila Prabhupada as soon as he finishes the lecture.”
I was stunned. I don’t think I said anything, but my face must have registered a foolish, “Who, ME?” Harer Nama, a very ascetic-looking devotee at that time of his life, gave me a grave stare, an art he was very practiced in. As I noted earlier, I greatly respected him. “You have to bring this to the Vyasasana NOW,” he hissed. “Sit down near Prabhupada and wait. When he stops his talk, step up with this plate.” Harer Nama left the way he came, pulling the door shut behind him. 

Kindly allow me to digress by putting in a few words here about what sort of person I am. When I need to, I can put on a good front … but under the surface I am very unsure of myself. I am a lunar type of personality, and as you know, sometimes the moon is right up there in its full glory, and sometimes it’s just a silvery sliver hanging forlornly on the horizon. On amavasya night, the moon is not to be seen at all even though it is right there. 

I came to Krishna consciousness driven by self-doubt. And even after joining ISKCON—but before meeting Srila Prabhupada—I was not at all sure I would stay in this movement. I kept the option to leave somewhere in the back of my mind. Sure, I couldn’t argue with the philosophy, and I admired all the devotees, even the wacky ones. But I didn’t think I really belonged to this group. So where did I belong? I didn’t know. That was my condition. 

Now here I was, Bhakta Loony Moonbeam … with a fruit plate in my lap meant for only the greatest person alive on Planet Earth. I had an order on my head given by the temple vice-president, a devotee I could never refuse. Was I wracked with insecurity? Absolutely. Was I happy? Oh yes, that too. Sweet and sour sauce all the way. 

I took a careful look at Srila Prabhupada. His eyes were still closed. He was speaking about the modes of material nature, how they color the consciousness the way mud colors water. I made my move, gingerly threading my way through the devotees and guests seated close together on the floor, keeping an eye on Srila Prabhupada all the while. Thank Krishna! His eyes are always shut. He doesn’t see me coming. If he suddenly looks my way, I might drop the plate.
I reached the Vyasasana but kept moving until I was close to the rear wall of the temple. Nobody was sitting in this spot because you couldn’t see Srila Prabhupada’s face here. I could sort of see him in profile, but it was from a rearward angle. The idea was to sit down safely outside of Srila Prabhupada’s field of vision. I was sure he hadn’t seen me yet, and when at last he did open his eyes, I didn’t want them to fall on me. When the time comes for him to get the plate, let me pop up out of nowhere and then fall back out of sight. 

The lecture was brief. Srila Prabhupada stopped and opened his eyes, looking at the Deities and at his audience. Everyone shouted “Srila Prabhupada ki jaya!” Then silence reigned. OK, now’s the time … 

But I couldn’t move. Scared. Frozen to the spot. Angry at myself for not performing my duty, but too baffled by low self-esteem to do anything about it. 

Now what?

All at once Srila Prabhupada’s golden head swiveled back in my direction. He looked at me and smiled graciously. “Ah, prasada!” I heard him say. The sound of his voice coursed through my consciousness like electricity, sparking me to action. In an instant I was on my feet. I stepped up close beside him so that he could select whatever he wanted. He took a piece of cantaloupe, bit into it, chewed, and put the remnant back on the plate. Then he poured water into his mouth from a styrofoam cup that was also on the plate. He leaned over to his left and spit the water on the floor. Amazing! After returning the cup, he got down from the Vyasasana, offered obeisances to the Deity, and swept out of the side door along with a dozen or so leading disciples. 

The rest of the devotees, all 150, mobbed me for mahaprasadam. I did manage to swallow a grape or something before the plate was stripped of remnants. 

Standing there, I suddenly realized I was ecstatic! 

What had just happened?
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Srila Prabhupada showed me he knows me! Without even having laid eyes on me before the moment he smiled at me and said “Ah, prasada,” Prabhupada was transcendentally aware of my person. He knew full well my self-doubts, my hesitation to commit myself, yet he reached past this inner darkness to enliven my true identity with his Divine Grace. Regardless of the factors of time, space, even the state of my mind, that militated to keep me distant from him, Srila Prabhupada knows exactly who I am, where I am—and what my service to him is! At our first meeting, this realization was unshakably enshrined in my heart. 

And what about that mysterious kirtan I’d begun hearing when the temple was empty of devotees, the ethereal chanting that turned into the kirtan of the devotees who accompanied Srila Prabhupada to the temple from Logan Airport? All these years later I still wonder about that. 

All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 9 January 2003
The Second Time I Met Shrila Prabhupada
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I met Srila Prabhupada again on the heels of my first encounter with him. Now, while watching Siddhanta Prabhu’s “Srila Prabhupada Memories” video series, I’ve noted that several Godbrothers report that, like me, they were shy and hesitant the first time they met His Divine Grace. After being enthused by the mercy of the initial contact, some got a little too emboldened and tried to “force” a follow-up meeting with Prabhupada on one pretext or other. Every Godbrother whom I know of with a story like this said the second time around Srila Prabhupada shut him down, either by chastisement or dismissiveness (the transcendental “cold shoulder” treatment). My second attempt to serve Prabhupada was similarly too ambitious. But Prabhupada corrected me in a different way. 
You’ll recall from the previous journal entry that after His Divine Grace gently lifted this skittish little worm of a self into the light, up from out of my thick shell of defensive self-absorption, I found myself in ecstasy. “Liberation means joyful.” But liberation shouldn’t mean that I then think I am the enjoyer. 

Well, that’s what happened next. Now wait a sec … no, truth be told, it wasn’t quite like that. I didn’t deliberately work out in my head a plan to try to take advantage of my new-found Relationship with Srila Prabhupada. But that’s what the sudden burst of enthusiasm that dwelled up in my heart led me into. “The road to hell is paved with good intentions” and all that. No, it wasn’t like that either. I was still on the road to Srila Prabhupada. But along that road await heavy lessons for a disciple to learn. 

Anyway, after Prabhupada exited the temple room I rushed out of the side door, leapt down the back stairs and burst into the kitchen. Within moments I had put together another fruit plate, this one featuring fresh New England blueberries, succulent pieces of green and orange melon, and a couple lumps of sugared butter in little cupcake paper holders. I raced back up the stairs with the plate in my hands and tapped at the door of Srila Prabhupada’s quarters, located just across the hall from the side entrance to the temple. 

Let’s consider a moment what I was doing. My bringing that fruit plate to Prabhupada’s room was more service to me than service to His Divine Grace. After all, not ten minutes earlier Srila Prabhupada had taken fruit. Just a little bit, true, but he could have taken more if he wanted. So why barge in his room with yet another plate of fruit? This illustrates what I mean about trying to take advantage of the relationship with the spiritual master. 

The door opened just enough to reveal Satsvarupa Prabhu sitting on the floor inside. He looked up at me doubtfully. Whispering urgently, I told him “I’ve brought prasadam for Srila Prabhupada.” His eyes widened, then he turned away. I heard him ask something to Srila Prabhupada. In a moment the door swung open and I strode through. 

Into the spiritual sky. I paid my dandavats and looked up in amazement. 

Srila Prabhupada’s room, as I recall, was painted white with blue trim. Mostly it seemed white. The floor, covered with spotless cotton sheets, was certainly all white. So Srila Prabhupada’s transcendental effulgence in the midst of this color scheme had an almost blinding effect on the eye. It really seemed to me that the air in there sparkled, as if the molecules of oxygen were surcharged to a sublime glow by Prabhupada’s presence. 

Prabhupada sat against white bolsters behind a low table. Arrayed in a half circle around him were about a dozen of his eldest disciples, some of whom I’d only heard about—for example Karandhara Prabhu from Los Angeles, who’d arrived with Prabhupada. They looked as though they were drinking their spiritual master’s divine form through their eyes. 

In my new boldness I stepped up to serve Srila Prabhupada, but he motioned me to distribute the fruit to the devotees. The purport: I should not try to enjoy my relationship with the spiritual master. I should serve him by serving his servants. 

But shortly, one of the disciples, Karunamoya Prabhu, spoke up. “Srila Prabhupada, he brought you a New England delicacy called blueberries. Please try them.” Prabhupada nodded to me and held out his hand. The purport: by the mercy of the spiritual master’s servants, I may get a chance to serve His Divine Grace directly. I should not aspire for more than this. 
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I placed some blueberries in his truly lotuslike palm; but before tasting them, Prabhupada noticed the butter. He directed me to dab some of it onto the berries in his hand. Then he took, nodding his head appreciatively from side to side. Purport: Srila Prabhupada is independent, so he may call on me to personally serve him at any time. 

But I must learn to remain humble.
I distributed the rest of the prasadam to the devotees, offered my obeisances, and silently withdrew. 

It would be nice to be able to conclude here that I learned an important lesson from my first two meetings with Srila Prabhupada, and could thereafter move beyond my insecurities onto the steady platform of fixed devotion. But less than forty-eight hours later my propensity for self-doubt caused me to almost miss my initiation.
 That’s a story for another time. 
“Grandma and the Hindu Monk”

From Harper’s Magazine

A Godbrother speaking at the Krishna Balarama Mandira 2002 Srila Prabhupada Tirobhava observance said that the reminiscences of Prabhupada’s disciples of their times with His Divine Grace are not nostalgia. Well, I’m doubtful if that entirely applies to me. No, I understand what he meant and do agree philosophically. But I belong to the kapha-prakrti type, according to Ayurvedic personality classification. We are prone to sentimentalism, looking backward, depression. I find myself often indulging in wishful thinking about the past. That’s nostalgia, or something close to it. 

In 1951, Harper’s, a New York literary magazine, published a short story by Seymour Freedgood called “Grandma and the Hindu Monk.” It was about a sadhu from East Bengal who comes to live in a rooming house run by a Jewish family in a suburb of New York City (on Long Island, I think). The sadhu wears saffron robes, is a strict vegetarian, preaches from the Bhagavad-gita, keeps a Tulasi plant, and chants Krishna’s name to the beat of a small drum. 

I first read “Grandma and the Hindu Monk” in a paperback collection of 20th Century American fiction that I found in the Mayapur library (of all places!). That was six or eight years ago. Later I made a photocopy of the same story from an original Harper’s 51/1 issue in the archives of the Los Angeles Public Library. Re-reading that awakened a nostalgic flood of interest in the America of the late ‘40s and early ‘50’s—the period when most of Srila Prabhupada’s disciples were taking their births. 

This short story about a Bengali Vaishnava who comes to chant and preach in New York suggests that a chthonic anticipation for Krishna consciousness was stirring deep in the American psyche as early as fourteen years before Srila Prabhupada’s arrival. 

It interests me that the same year Srila Prabhupada published the first issue of Back to Godhead in Calcutta, with its lead article on the problem of war, the so-called Beat Movement was gelling among certain disaffected New York intellectuals who were alienated by the war-plagued Western civilization. Among these founder-acaryas of the Beats was Allen Ginsberg, who would later render important service to Srila Prabhupada in the late 1960’s. Another original Beat was John Clellon Holmes, who wrote a newspaper article in the early ‘50s titled “This is the Beat Generation.” He described the Beats as being opposite to the scientific materialists who had tried to banish God from human experience. The Beats were looking for God in everything. 

What if Srila Prabhupada had come to New York in 1945 instead of 1965? (Don’t take this “what if” too seriously, gentle reader. It is just a thought experiment.) There already were people around then who would have certainly come forward to hear him. Poets, students, speculators, welfare workers, dopeheads and dropouts who very well might have followed him with the same sense of eager spiritual adventure as did his disciples of the 1960s. Imagine if ISKCON today was 57 years old, and had been personally guided by Srila Prabhupada for the first of its 37 years (from 1945 until November 1977)? 

Just wishful thinking. Sorry. 

All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 10 January 2003
 “Enjoyment”
Yesterday I wrote: “I should not try to enjoy my relationship with the spiritual master.” 

But that relationship is nectarean! Therefore it must certainly be enjoyable! So is it wrong for a disciple to be an enjoyer in his rasa with Lord Krishna’s pure devotee?

Delhi, March 25, 1976
Prabhupada: Full freedom means to be under the order of the Supreme. That is full freedom. That is full freedom. 

Atreya Rsi: The cinema or restaurant is not freedom. It’s completely conditioning under the laws of material nature. But fully surrendered soul is fully free. 

Prabhupada: No, no, if you simply, even if you want to go to a cinema … 

Pusta Krishna: He’s still responsible for going. 

Prabhupada: If you ask, “Father, I wish to see cinema,” if father says, “All right, we’ll go,” that is not sinful. But you go in your own whims—that is sinful. Tena tyaktena bhunjitha. 

Cyavana: Sometimes it’s difficult as devotees for us to know whether
we’re doing the right thing or whether we’re just speculating. 

Prabhupada: And therefore you have to consult your guru. 

The son going with his father to the cinema is a useful analogy. There certainly is enjoyment for the son in that relationship, but it is under the authority of the father. When the son’s enjoyment conforms to the desire of the father, it is all right. In this relationship, the father’s enjoyment is prominent. Yet there is still room for the son’s desire. The son can even take the initiative for enjoyment.”If you ask, ‘Father, I wish to see cinema.’ if father says, ‘All right, we’ll go,’ that is not sinful.” 

Think about it. It is indeed not sinful—it is love. 

But if I insist that MY WHIMS TO ENJOY MYSELF should be prominent in relation to my father (spiritual master, Krishna)—in other words, if I go ahead and do whatever I like no matter what my superior desires—“that is sinful.”
So my bringing another fruit plate to Srila Prabhupada minutes after he had taken fruit was whimsical. I was not considering his desire. But then again, there is the element of the spiritual master’s merciful expertise. Srila Prabhupada turned my whimsy into sadhu-seva of his disciples, my older brothers. And being satisfied with that, he again personally accepted fruit from my hand. Thus I was saved from a great blunder. 
Walking with Shrila Prabhupada by the River Charles
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The next morning Srila Prabhupada got into the car to be driven to the bank of the River Charles to “enjoy” his morning walk with a number of disciples. As the driver started the motor, a disciple known for his eccentricity ran up to Prabhupada’s window indicating he should roll it down. His Divine Grace kindly complied. The boy asked, “Srila Prabhupada, can I take sannyasa?” 

“You must be pure,” Prabhupada replied. 

“I know, Srila Prabhupada. Can I take sannyasa?”
Prabhupada looked at the driver to indicate he should put the car in gear. Without another glance at the eccentric disciple, he rolled his window back up. The car moved forward. That disciple ran ahead of the car to pull up handfuls of grass from the lawn and strew them in front of the vehicle, as if they were handfuls of flower petals.
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On the riverbank Srila Prabhupada and his entourage walked by a bridge. Under the bridge lived a few of the kind of people it is now politically correct to term “homeless” (though back then, we just called them bums). They saw the devotees coming past, so they stumbled out in an alcoholic stupor to gawk and make coarse remarks. I believe one of them even called out to Srila Prabhupada to ask if he had a cigarette.
The disciple’s faces were grim as they girded themselves to defend His Divine Grace. But Prabhupada’s face was merry. “Intoxicants!” he chuckled, greatly amused.
I think by his use of that word Prabhupada showed a playful mastery of English vocabulary. Think about it. Those were persons who stumbled out from under the bridge. Why would Srila Prabhupada pick a word that only referred to the alcohol inside them? I think he had in mind sophisticated English words ending in “-ants” that refer to people: “savants,” “hierophants,” “dilettantes.” He put a similar spin on the word “intoxicants,” rendering it into a high-sounding designation for this lowly pack of winos. 
Installation of Shri Radha-Gopiballabha

In a simple mid-day ceremony, Srila Prabhupada installed the beautiful Sri Sri Radha-Gopiballabha. These Deities are twins of Sri Sri Radha-Damodara, who at that time—or at least, soon after that time (I’m not exactly sure when the road show started rolling, but I know it was during my days in Boston)—were traveling around America with Kirtanananda Swami and the Transcendental Road Show. 
About the name “Radha-Gopiballabha,” the Boston Radha-Krishna Deities installed by Srila Prabhupada in 1971 were not formally addressed that way until a couple years later, when Trai Dasa Prabhu was president. By that time I had transferred out of Boston to the Radha-Damodara TSKP headed by Vishnujana Maharaja. (I started serving the Radha-Damodara Deities when They separated from the Road Show, which remained in the New York temple. Radha-Damodara continued to travel in a bus with Vishnujana Maharaja and eight or ten brahmacaris, one of whom was this humble self.) 
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Sri Sri Radha-Gopiballabha, ISKCON Boston

Anyway, the Deities who later became known as Sri Sri Radha-Gopiballabha had Their first bath in a large stainless steel bowl. Srila Prabhupada gracefully poured pancha-amrita over Them from a conchshell while chanting the “Govindam” prayers. Then Prabhupada dressed and decorated Them behind closed altar curtains. The ceremony ended with Deity darshan, kirtan, and a big feast. 
The Yogi and the Hippy
Many guests attended, including a slick-looking Indian man who taught yoga to Bostoners. His chief disciples were well-endowed young women. He sat among the crowd in a yoga asana. When Prabhupada bathed the Deities, tears streamed down the yogi’s face. To tell the truth, seeing that gave me some respect for him. But later I heard he left in a huff because he could not get a private audience with Srila Prabhupada. 

There was a bearded longhair named Rafael who used to often visit the Boston temple in the company of a similarly hippie-looking boy and a girl. I got the impression that together these three formed a small cult of some sort. Their slogan was “Jaya Vishnu.” Rafael once asked me, “Do you think it is bona fide for us to chant Jaya Vishnu instead of Hare Krishna?” Years before, he had lived for a while at the Matchless Gifts temple on Second Avenue in New York. Gargamuni Prabhu caught him smoking grass in the bathroom. Rafael threw a punch and ran out onto the street. When Srila Prabhupada heard about it, he went into transcendental fury. “Where is he? I shall kick on his face!” 

Unlike the Boston yogi, Rafael did get a darshan with Srila Prabhupada, who reminisced that he’d taught the boy how to make chapatis. But then Prabhupada’s mood turned grave. “These are old stories,” he said, dismissing the pleasant memories of Second Avenue. He indicated his shaven-headed disciples who were present in the room. “They have taken this Krishna consciousness seriously.” I didn’t see Rafael and his friends much after that. 

All glories to Srila Prabhupada!

En route to Belgaum, Maharastra, 10 January 2003
Remembering Govardhana: 

At the Bhaktivedanta Sadhana Ashrama
From November 24 to December 20 this past year I stayed in a small “monk’s cell” on the roof of the Bhaktivedanta Sadhana Ashrama at Govardhana. As my dear Godbrother Keshava Bharati describes it, “This is ISKCON’s place of bhajan for ghostyanandis.” I had no assistant with me, nor did I take help from the local brahmacaris for my personal needs. So daily I was washed my own clothes, cleaned my own room, and did my own shopping.
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I rose early, chanted my rounds, did my full puja program—the yajna I performed outside my room for Sri Govardhana Hill, which is visible from the ashrama rooftop. For hours each day, I studied. Some days I went on parikrama, an eight-hour barefoot walk around Govardhana Hill that included a stop for a holy bath in the most sacred Sri Radha-Kund. In this way I can list the things I did there, but it’s difficult to find the words to describe the sublime consciousness that enveloped me while I was doing them. Govardhana is a place of extraordinary mercy. Anyway, on the theme of self-improvement, a sannyasi Godbrother who visited the ashrama for a few days said to me, “Every morning from your room I hear you chanting so many mantras and ringing bells. Is it that you don’t have so much service to do anymore?” I have to add he asked this in a very loving way; we’re old friends. 

I answered that I’ve found that for preaching nowadays, it seems advantageous for a sannyasi to be able to demonstrate a good grounding in Krishna conscious culture and knowledge. I believe that working to improve one’s authenticity as a representative of Krishna conscious knowledge and culture is an important service; perhaps, in these troubled times, the most important service. And besides, I continue to travel and preach. 

My Godbrother nodded thoughtfully. He could see what I was talking about. 

A good quotation in this regard:

Action without study is fatal. 
Study without action is futile.

Who Was Swami Swa-ananda Ashrama?
Now, for 21 points, who was Swami Swa-ananda Ashrama? 

This question actually pertains to a Prabhupada remembrance from before my first meeting with His Divine Grace. I believe it took place in early 1971, certainly no later than April. The ISKCON Press had not yet relocated to New York. 

So, the first thing about Swami Swa-ananda Ashrama is a letter that arrived from Srila Prabhupada in India. His Divine Grace informed the press devotees that an Indian Swami had joined ISKCON and was offering his service! So Prabhupada had recommended him to come to Boston to work with Pradyumna Prabhu in the Sanskrit department. Now, I didn’t read the letter myself; that’s what I remember about it from the talk going round the temple. 

Some time later, the Swami arrived. He exactly fit the image of an impersonalist sannyasi that we American devotees had in our minds: beard, long hair, turban, ochre robes. In that dress he’d go out with us on Harer-nama Sankirtana. Quite a sight for the karmis. He did chant, and he did look happy. During kirtana he liked to blow on a little conchshell that from time to time he’d pull out of his robes. 

He moved into the temple, up on the third floor. He probably shared Pradyumna Prabhu’s room (being a temple and not a press devotee, I rarely ascended the third floor, so I’m not sure in which room he stayed. 

The senior devotees were worried about him being a Mayavadi. The Ashrama order of sannyasis comes in the line of Shankaracharya. But Lord Chaitanya took sannyasa in the Mayavadi line too, so maybe Swami Swa-ananda Ashrama was a genuine devotee at heart. 

I found out where he was really at one evening after the arati and Bhagavad-gita class. I happened to be downstairs near the front door when in walked three “seventies party animals” (you have to have lived through the 1970’s to know what that means). As per the lingo of that time, these were ‘two dudes and a chick.” They wanted to see the Indian Swami they said they’d heard about. I quickly determined they did not mean Srila Prabhupada, but Swami Swa-ananda Ashrama. I sent another devotee up to fetch him. Staying to preach to them, I discovered they didn’t have much on their minds beyond sex. 

Moments later the Swami came down in his full regalia. I stood to the side to listen while he spoke with them. They wanted to take him to a party. “And why?” he asked. “We’ll have a good time,” they urged. “Come on, Swami—beer, wine, whisky, whatever you want.” 

He twinkled at them, shaking his head from side to side in the Indian manner. “No, I’ll not come with you.”
“Come on, Swami. Have some fun. Get drunk with us.”
“That’s all right, you go to your party. I’ll remain here, and I’ll drink through your mouths.”
“Whoa,” I thought, there it is … “Mayavadi philosophy on toast!”
Not many days after that, a second letter about Swami Swa-ananda Ashrama arrived from Srila Prabhupada. To live with us, the Swami had to shave up. 

I caught a glimpse of him as he left the men’s bathroom after his shave. Without hair and beard he didn’t look particularly impressive. Pretty sad character, I thought. Moreover, he was obviously quite upset at being obliged by Prabhupada to part with his head and face follicles. 

I never saw Swamiji in the Boston temple after that. I don’t know what happened. I guess he didn’t like showing himself all shaved up like that, so he stayed in his room upstairs; and at some point he must have left the temple for good. 

Some time later we got a handbill with a photo of the Swami on it. Here again he was fully coiffeurred, decked out in turban and robes. The flyer announced his new publication: Bhagavad-gita As It Was!!!

The next thing I heard about him was that he showed up at the Henry Street temple in New York with two women. Srila Prabhupada was visiting at the time. Swami Swa-ananda Ashrama got an audience with His Divine Grace, but it didn’t last long. The way I heard it, Srila Prabhupada remarked afterward, “As soon as I saw him, I knew he was crazy.” Later I had a talk with one of the New York brahmacaris who, on Prabhupada’s order, forcibly dragged the Swami out of his room and threw him out on the street. The two ladies followed behind meekly with shocked looks on their faces. 

So guess what … about a year ago I met Swami Swa-ananda Ashrama in the Schipol International Airport in Holland. He looked a bit grayer, had a knit cap on his head instead of a turban, and wore yogi pants instead of a sannyasi lungi. He didn’t remember me specifically, but did say, “Hare Krishna! Thirty years ago I stayed in ISKCON. I knew Prabhupada.”
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Sri Vrndavana Dham—Near Kolhapur!
Six kilometers south of Kolhapur (direction Belgaum) we stopped at Gokul Shiragao. This place is described in the Padma Purana as nondifferent from Sri Vrndavana Dhama. Lord Krishna came here from Dvaraka and manifested the Yamuna River, a kadamba grove, and Govardhana Hill. And here He performed all His Vraja-lilas. 
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His lotus footprints and the hoofprints of His cows are preserved in stone. There is a temple here in which two ancient Deities of Sri Gopala are enshrined. I took darshan and sprinkled water from the Yamuna on my head. An inscription assures us that a single visit to this holy tirtha will destroy all sins. Joy stirs in me here. I am happy I came.

All glories to Shrila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra,14 January 2003
Dangers of Indian Roads
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At shortly before 7:00 PM, Madhu Puri and I arrived by car in Kolhapur from Belgaum. I should mention that the main road between these two towns is extremely dangerous. It is clogged with traffic, and in India that means clogged with cars and trucks that are madly trying to overtake one another, veering out into the oncoming lane and ducking back just before disaster. Or not ducking back in time. On both trips (one down, one up) we saw the smashed remnants of terrible collisions along the roadside.
All glories to Shrila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 16 January 2003
With Radhakunda Prabhu in Kolhapur
While in Belgaum, I stayed at the palatial home of a wealthy and very pious businessman named Mr. Katwa. This was the third time I’ve visited him, so we are very friendly. He has two grown sons who live at his home and a daughter who is married and stays in Chicago. The whole family chants Hare Krishna. Mr. Katwa is really a jewel of a gentleman. He is so kind-hearted, soft-spoken, and eager to serve. Yet by his own explanation, his whole life prior to meeting devotees a few years ago was totally committed to making money and enjoying his senses. He used to be very fond of wine and meat. Most of his old eating and drinking buddies snubbed him when he gave these habits up. But he remains fully convinced of Krishna consciousness, in a quiet, sincere way. He relishes Srila Prabhupada’s Bhagavatam and likes to discuss what he has just finished reading. 

My old friend Sriman Radhakunda Prabhu stayed at Mr. Katwa’s also. I got to know him in the 1970’s when he was a big book distributor. When I was on the BBT library party, he was HH Satsvarupa Maharaja’s personal servant. So we saw a lot of each other in those times. He’s energetic, funny, and really attached to the nectar of the lotus feet of Sri Sri Radha-Krishna. When he honors prasadam his habit is to recite a different name of Their Lordships as he puts a bite of prasad into his mouth: 

“Radha-Govinda - Radha-Giridhari - Radha-Vrajakishore - Radha-Vamsibihari”
Radhakunda Prabhu has lived a very full life and has many stories to tell. I shall relate one here. It is very gruesome yet most instructive. I am not going to explain the philosophical meaning, since that will obvious from the story itself. 
The Shoe Thief
In 1975, Radhakunda Prabhu lived for some time at the Mayapur goshalla where he cared for the cows. A mystery shoe thief was coming around at night. He’d steal the nicest shoes left by devotees and guests at the entrance of Sri Sri Radha-Madhava’s temple. It was an embarrassment for the management because the shoes of visiting dignitaries would go missing. So the order went out from the top: “Catch the shoe thief. And when you get him, give him a good beating.” To give a caught thief a beating is quite within the norms of social behavior in India. 

Radhakunda and another devotee took the assignment to catch the “chapal chora” (shoe thief) red-handed. During sandhya-arati Radhakunda hid in the dark in the bushes that grew around the Lotus Building. (In those days the temple room was the whole ground floor of the Lotus Building—it did not, as it does today, extend from the Lotus to the Conch Building). His partner took the lookout up on the first-floor balcony. 

A man came through the jute fields in back of the Lotus Building and carefully approached the temple entrance. He shined a flashlight on the shoes and slipped two pairs into the waistband of his dhoti, one pair in front, the other in back. He pulled his kurta down to hide the shoes. Then he turned to make his getaway back through the fields. 
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Radhakunda Prabhu darted from the bushes, intercepting the thief from behind. He was armed with a lathi (bamboo stick) that had been soaked in cow dung to make it as heavy and as hard as iron. He raised it high to bring it down on the thief’s head. Sensing something, the thief turned to face Radhakunda. Swishing through the air, the lathi cracked his skull. Radhakunda follow that blow up with two baseball bat-style lateral whacks, one to the right and one to the left side of the thief’s head. But the man didn’t fall. He just stood there dazed and swaying, blood flowing down his face from out of his hair. By this time the other devotee had rushed down the Lotus Building stairs to take Radhakunda’s arm and stop him from hitting the thief a fourth time. 

“Are you sure he’s the thief?” he demanded. 

Radhakunda lifted the man’s kurta, which by now was stained red with blood. There were the shoes. The other devotee brought up a home-made mangowood numchaku (a Japanese-style karate flail consisting of two foot-long sticks that are connected by a short length of rope). Again and again he smashed the thief in the head with them. The man still didn’t fall. 

By this time a crowd of Bengalis surged out of the temple and demanded to know why the two foreigners were beating up a Bengali. “Chapal chor,” Radhakunda yelled, again lifting up the thief’s kurta. So the Bengalis joined in the pummel session. 

Finally the man was brought up to a room in the Lotus Building. Radhakunda tried to force him to reveal his name and village by hitting him in the forehead with the tip of his lathi in the manner of striking a billiard ball with a pool cue. The man just moaned. Suddenly a Bengali devotee entered and informed Radhakunda that this man was from his own village. He was deaf and dumb and so would never be able to give his name. 

When it sank in what he had just done, Radhakunda’s head cleared, as if he was coming out of a red fog of blind rage. This man might be a shoe thief, but he was nonetheless a dhama-vasi (resident of the birthplace of Lord Caitanya Mahaprabhu). Being deaf and dumb, he would be even poorer than the other dhama-vasis of the villages around the ISKCON center. Therefore he had become a thief. Radhakund felt terrible. What an offense he had just committed! What reaction now awaited him?
City of the Dead

Not long thereafter, Radhakunda came down with a severe amoebic infection. His liver became abscessed, which in those days was a death sentence. But he didn’t know what disease he was suffering from, and the devotees around him were taking his condition lightly. For two weeks, wracked with unimaginable pain, he laid on a cot at the goshalla, hardly able to move. Finally an Ayurvedic doctor came to look at him. He told the devotees that Radhakund had eight hours to live.
He was loaded in a car and driven to a Calcutta hospital. The three-hour drive was a nightmare of excruciation. At the hospital, a doctor urged the devotee who brought Radhakunda in to drive him back to Mayapur because death was certain. Practically getting physical with the doctor, the devotee demanded that Radhakunda be admitted. So he was given a bed in the terminal hall … the dying ward. It was a huge room of one hundred and fifty beds. Here lay the incurables. Every day one or two dozen would die, be swaddled in sheets like mummies, and be stacked like cordwood on the balcony. At night the bodies were loaded onto a creaky wagon and removed for burning somewhere. Radhakunda was given a bed on that very balcony. 

He was a skeleton shrink-wrapped in ghastly yellow skin. But he didn’t die. What he suffered was worse than death. 

At that time Calcutta was fervently communist (it is still communist today, but not so fervently as the 70’s … and don’t forget, the American war against communism in nearby Vietnam lasted into 1975). The Bengalis who came to the ward to visit their dying relatives would go out onto the balcony to smoke. Seeing Radhakund there, they’d make callous remarks (in Bengali language of course, but Radhakund had learned enough to understand most of what they were saying). They would ridicule him as an agent of the CIA. They would blaspheme Srila Prabhupada and Krishna. And they would stub their cigarettes out on his flesh. 

To the doctors he was already dead, so he got no help there. The nurse did not swab his body down nor change his position, so he developed bedsores. Day after day he watched the bodies stack up and wondered when his own would be thrown on the pile. 

The terminal hall’s only toilet was located on the balcony. One day Radhakunda saw a man lurch out of the ward and make for the stool room door. But before he got there, he vomited blood and dropped dead. Another time a patient was put into a bed on the balcony just next to Radhakunda. He looked at the man’s face and saw that the liquid on his eyeballs was bubbling. For just a second, Radhakund looked away. But as he was intending to tell the man about Krishna, he turned back to see his face once more. In that moment the man had died. 

This went on for three months. In that time the only devotee to visit Radhakunda was HH Trivikrama Maharaja, who handed him a Limca soft drink and told him, “You’re not the body, Prabhu.”
Gradually it dawned on the doctors that Radhakunda was surviving the death sentence of an abscessed liver. They became interested in him as a medical breakthrough. So he was promoted from being just a slab of meat to an experimental animal. Like clockwork throughout the 24 hours of the day, every fifteen minutes they would come to inject him with veterinary antibiotics through long, thick needles that were designed for horses. 

Eventually he could sit up. Finally he could stand. He forced himself to walk. And where he walked was out of the hospital to the Albert Road ISKCON temple, which was not far away. When he arrived, the devotees were thunderstruck. He didn’t understand why until he saw himself in a full-length mirror positioned inside of the door of an almira cabinet in the temple’s office. He looked like an inmate of Auschwitz. He couldn’t recognize himself. 

He soon flew to America, to Denver temple. He tried to recover his health by resting in the brahmacari ashrama. After a week or so, he felt strong enough to do a little service, so he drove a sick devotee to the hospital. The doctor dealt with the sick devotee in a few seconds, prescribing some pills. Then the doctor turned to Radhakund. 

“You … come come with me.”
He was taken to the emergency ward and treated for a month. He’d kept his Calcutta medical records; reading them, the American doctors were astonished to know he’d survived a liver abscess. Almost every day, specialists from other American cities, and even other countries, visited him and asked him hundreds of questions. 

Nowadays, liver abscesses can be cured. I suppose Radhakund’s case has something to do with that. 
Editor’s Note: Radhakunda dasa passed away in 2007 in Vrindavana. See this: http://www.radhakunda.com/rkd/remembrances.html 
All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 17 January 2003
Back to the Fifties
The Twenty-One Quiz Show Scandal
Image (R) Van Doren in the isolation booth on the quiz show Twenty-One, with host Jack Barry (1957)
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"I would give almost anything I have to reverse the course of my life in the last year. The past doesn’t change for anyone. But at least I can learn from the past. I’ve learned a lot about life. I’ve learned a lot about myself and about the responsibilities any man has to his fellow men. I have learned a lot about good and evil. They’re not always what they appear to be. I was involved—deeply involved—in a deception. I have deceived my friends, and I had millions of them. I lied to the American people. I lied about what I knew, and then I lied about what I did not know. In a sense, I was like a child who refuses to admit a fact in the hope that it will go away. Of course it did not go away. I was scared, scared to death. I had no solid position, no basis to stand on for myself. There was one way out, and that was to tell the truth. It may sound trite to you but I’ve found myself again after a number of years. I’ve been acting a role, maybe all my life, of thinking I’ve done more, accomplished more, produced more, than I have. I’ve had all the breaks. I have stood on the shoulders of life, and I’ve never gotten down into the dirt to build, to erect a foundation of my own. I’ve flown too high on borrowed wings. Everything came too easy. That is why I am here today.“
This is the confessional testimony of a mundane academic “guru,” Charles Van Doren, before the US House Subcommittee on Legislative Oversight in 1958. I find his story instructive, so I thought I would write something about it here.

Mr. Van Doren was a young, handsome literature teacher at Columbia University in New York City. Besides his PhD in literature, he had a degree in astrophysics. His father was Mark Van Doren, professor of literature at the same university and a prizewinning poet and author. His mother was a noted author too, as was his uncle Carl. The Van Dorens were considered to be one of the leading intellectual families in the USA.

A friend of Charles had appeared on a television quiz show, the type of program where guests are asked questions in a chance to win prize money. This friend urged Charles to take a chance too. So he applied at NBC (National Broadcasting Company) where several such quiz shows were aired. The production team of a program called Twenty-One was ecstatic. Charles Van Doren was just the man they were looking for: a good-looking, charismatic intellectual.

At that time, Twenty-One was one of the most popular quiz shows, attracting 40 million viewers every time it aired. But what all these viewers did not know was that Twenty-One was totally “fixed.” The contestants answered the questions right or wrong from a script. Who won and who lost was planned by the show’s head producer, an NBC executive named Dan Enright.

Enright persuaded Charles Van Doren to be Twenty-One’s new winner. At first Van Doren wasn’t happy with the idea of winning dishonestly. The argument that convinced him was that as a TV star he would be able to give a big boost to education in America. At that time Americans were afraid that the Russians had surpassed them in science. The year before, 1957, the Russians put Sputnik 1 into orbit. This was the world’s first artificial satellite. The Americans, with all their money and technology, had for several years tried without success to launch a rocket into space. They were most chagrined to be beaten by the Russians, whom they looked down upon as ignorant, vodka-swilling peasants.

So the foremost question on America’s mind in 1958 was, how do we get our young people excited about higher learning so that they will excel in science and put the country back into first place?

Charles Van Doren was fated to be that “exciter” America was looking for. Though he never shook off his inner doubts about Twenty-One’s deception of the public, he reasoned (as Shakespeare stated in Merchant of Venice), “To do a great right, do a little wrong.”
The previous star on Twenty-One was a very ordinary-looking fellow by the name of Herbie Stempel. Dan Enright orchestrated a duel between Stempel and Van Doren that played out over three showtimes. Many more viewers than normal tuned in to see the dramatic contest of minds. At last Stempel lost on an easy question. In reality he knew the answer, but producer Enright had persuaded Stempel to fail on a question that most viewers themselves would know the correct answer to, so as to heighten the dramatic effect. In return Enright promised to put Stempel’s name in the works for appearances on other NBC shows.

But NBC just dropped Stempel. Feeling cheated, he testified before a New York City judge that Twenty-One was a big fraud. However this got him nowhere. NBC persuaded the judge that Stempel was mentally unstable. So his testimony was not made public. But a lawyer named Richard Goodwin who worked for the US federal agency in Washington that had authority over television came to know of this case. He started his own investigation which led to a federal inquiry by a subcommittee of US congressmen.
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In the meantime, Charles Van Doren became the most popular personality on American TV. Students around the country—especially the female students—worshiped him as a hero. Indeed, he was an intellectual Elvis Presley. In a culture where men normally ask women for marriage, Van Doren was getting a dozen marriage proposals a week, many from women he had never met. His rocket flight into stardom reached its zenith when his face appeared on the cover of Time, America’s leading news magazine.

And he was winning money. After a few weeks he had “earned” more than a hundred thousand dollars. In the 1950’s, a hundred thousand dollars had a great deal more buying power than the same amount does today. 

Dark clouds began to loom on Van Doren’s sunny horizon when Goodwin, the lawyer from Washington, came to interview him. As it turned out, Richard Goodwin was himself an intellectual who had graduated first in his class from America’s most prestigious university, Harvard. Van Doren and Goodwin spoke the same language. They became close. Out of concern for his friend, Goodwin confided that he had collected evidence showing that Twenty-One was rigged. But Van Doren insisted he knew nothing about that, and that he personally had won honestly. Goodwin urged him to walk away from NBC and to make no public statements until the federal inquiry was over. But although Van Doren stopped appearing on Twenty-One, he accepted NBC’s offer to become a regular on NBC’s popular Today show. For a few minutes air time each week, he drew a yearly salary of $50, 000.

The “quiz show scandal,” as it came to be known, engulfed Charles Van Doren. Although he tried to follow his friend’s advice to make no public statement, his millions of devotees demanded that he clear himself of Herbie Stempel’s accusations. Herbie had testified before the congressional subcommittee. The cat was out of the bag. 

One thing Stempel’s performance before the subcommittee made clear was that Stempel’s own character was questionable. He admitted that he willingly participated in the fraud, and he admitted he had been diagnosed by a doctor as having psychological problems. Everyone was still inclined to believe that whatever deception might have been going on at Twenty-One, Charles Van Doren, PhD, knew nothing about it and had won his prize money honestly. 

Van Doren issued a press release confirming that opinion. He claimed to be innocent of any wrongdoing and ignorant of it as well. This prompted the inquiry committee to subpoena him. The subpoena was a development that Richard Goodwin never wanted. Now Van Doren would have to tell his side of the story under oath. 

Van Doren, fearing that his exposure as a liar before the subcommittee would shame his whole family, caved in and submitted the sworn statement I quoted at the beginning. It sent a shock wave across America. Charles Van Doren retired from teaching and public life to write books at his family home in the Connecticut countryside.

As I noted early on, he was a mundane academic guru. I have often observed that if we take care to look, we can find an almost mystical symmetry between events in the nondevotee society and those in ISKCON society. This despite the warning that “what the karmis do is all maya, Prabhu.” So why do it? Well, there’s that often-quoted line about those who fail to learn from history are condemned to repeat it. After all, Srila Prabhupada said history was his favorite subject.

An air of emergency … “we gotta do something fast!” … the appearance of a young, gifted kavi (learned speaker) with good intentions … shady backroom planners take note that the kavi has what it takes to capture the public’s imagination and solve the emergency … he falls in with them and is persuaded on the basis of “sastra” that one may do a little wrong to do a great right … danam, janam and sundarim surround him … he becomes attached to his position … someone who early on tries to expose the fraud is outmaneuvered and ends up being discredited as a nutcase … the kavi is urged by a good friend to free himself from entanglement before it is too late … the kavi tries, but only half-heartedly (for Oh! How addictive name and fame can be!) … convinced still that he acts not for himself but only for the sake of the faithful, he prolongs the lie into the danger zone … at last he can’t bear it anymore...in great shame he confesses the truth and goes into seclusion … the faithful are left shaken and dismayed...the “nutcase” whose testimony everyone dismissed at first is vindicated, though his own flaws are manifold.
All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 18 January 2003
“Why Did They Fall Down?”

In 1966 in New York City’s Bowery Srila Prabhupada shared a loft with a young man named David Allen. Prabhupada hoped David would become his first initiated disciple. Unfortunately he continued to take drugs even while being trained by His Divine Grace. At last he went mad. David’s madness prompted Srila Prabhupada to vacate the loft. From there, with the help of Carl Yeargens (Karlapati dasa) and Michael Grant (Mukunda dasa), Prabhupada moved to Second Avenue, where his kirtans and classes in the Matchless Gifts storefront began. 

I got to know David Allen when he visited the Boston temple sometime in the winter of either late ‘70 or early ‘71. Why do I remember this? Yesterday’s journal entry alluded to the falldowns of senior disciples of Srila Prabhupada. In a way, David’s case is the first such story in the history of ISKCON. 

I recall the great respect the devotees of Boston temple showed him. He wasn’t initiated, but he was the first candidate for initiation. For a time he was the only person in whom Srila Prabhupada found a potential for serious spiritual life. He was special. 

Nowadays my older Godbrothers and -sisters who spent a lot of personal time with Srila Prabhupada, who did great service to His Divine Grace, and who may have been sannyasis or even gurus, but who suffered setbacks in their spiritual life, are treated (or should be treated) with the same kind of respect that I saw the Boston devotees show to David. 

David was a simple fellow, no pretensions. But because he’d been touched so early on by Srila Prabhupada, there was something different about him, something I found appealing. I just had to talk to him. He didn’t have a great deal to say, really. No amazing revelations, like I’d hoped. But Srila Prabhupada had clearly made a deep impression on his life. He was in awe of His Divine Grace. I could see that David would never forget him. And that’s what made David so special. 

There was another person whose birth name I’ve forgotten. He finally joined ISKCON after Srila Prabhupada’s nitya-lila pravishtha, and was initiated as Prabhupada dasa. I think he serves at present in South America. Anyway, this young man ran a second-hand shop not far from the Boston temple. But during the Matchless Gifts days he lived in New York and used to visit with Srila Prabhupada. 

I found his association very appealing also. In those early Boston days of my memory he kept long hair and beard (David was more clean-cut), but he told funny stories of his times with Prabhupada. He said he had a lot of trouble with his wife and used to go to Prabhupada to lament. Prabhupada would listen for a while, then reach for one of his folded saffron sannyasi lungis that were stacked on a shelf. This he would hold out to the young man as an invitation that he ought to renounce his marriage and take the sannyasa order. The young man said, “Oh no, Swamiji! Not that!” Srila Prabhupada returned the lungi to the shelf and remarked something like, “So then you must continue suffering.”
As a new devotee I felt it was my great fortune to associate with David and the future Prabhupada dasa. Now in ISKCON, by default, I am a “senior disciple” of Srila Prabhupada. But I still feel very fortunate whenever I can associate with anyone who carries with him or her the oceanic mercy of extended personal association of Krishna’s pure devotee during the beginning days of his mission. Such fortunate persons may appear before our imperfect eyes as “fallen” in some way, as “not up to standard.” But if they carry Srila Prabhupada in the core of their heart then in my opinion they are not of this world. They are of the spiritual world, Prabhupada’s world. As soon as they start talking about Srila Prabhupada, their eternal identities as his servants birth after birth become apparent. 

Here in Kolhapur I was asked, “Why did they fall down?” Well, how do we know they fell down? I see that internally, in their hearts, they continue to mediate upon their service to Srila Prabhupada. And I see that if Srila Prabhupada returned, they would instantly resume all the external formalities of service to him. They are Prabhupada conscious. They are rasa-graha: they cannot forget the nectar of his association. No matter the external situation or activities, if one is rasa-graha, or retaining consciousness of the nectar of the lotus feet of the Lord (which means the nectar of the pure devotee who is always situated at those lotus feet), one’s spiritual identity is established. 

na vai jano jatu kathancanavrajen
mukunda-sevy anyavad anga samsrtim
smaran mukundanghry-upaguhanam punar 
vihatum icchen na rasa-graho janah
My dear Vyasa, even though a devotee of Lord Krishna sometimes fall down somehow or other, he certainly does not undergo material existence like others (fruitive workers, etc.) because a person who has once relished the taste of the lotus feet of the Lord can do nothing but remember that ecstasy again and again. (SB 1.5.19)

Someone may ask, “Well, why don’t such fortunate persons just come back to ISKCON and serve in the institution like the rest of us?”
Often the sad answer is that they are very sensitive about the minimization of His Divine Grace that they find in ISKCON after Prabhupada’s departure from this world. If you think that Srila Prabhupada is always glorified and never minimized in today’s ISKCON, you are overlooking certain unhappy developments. 

For example, the BBT recently published a book for distribution to the public in the USA. It is a very pretty book written in an up to date style. But it associates Srila Prabhupada in a favorable way with Vivekananda, a Mayavadi whom Srila Prabhupada severely condemned. It associates His Divine Grace favorably with a host of other mundane persons, one of whom is still alive and taking active part in criticizing Srila Prabhupada on the Internet. 

I’ve noticed that many of our present-day ISKCON devotees are able to shrug this off: “Anyway, the book sells, and who among the karmis is gonna take notice of those details?” Well, for one thing, Prabhu, this is the internet age. Anybody can get on the net and type this list of mundane names into their favorite search engine. Voila! Mayavada missionizing and Prabhupada minimizing right there on your home computer screen. But apart from that, the main thing is the book is an offense to Srila Prabhupada. If the Bhaktivedanta Book Trust would have ever printed a favorable mention of the name Vivekananda during the years of Prabhupada’s physical presence on this planet, a bomb blast would have gone off that we would still be talking about now. Just because Prabhupada is not physically visible to us now does not mean he does not know about this book and is not unhappy with it. 

My Godbrothers and Godsisters who gave their youthful lives to Srila Prabhupada and who still love him in the core of their hearts are deeply pained by this new BBT book. I know, I talk to them. So why should they take part in a movement that produces and distributes offenses to their spiritual master?

All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 20 January 2003
How I Almost Missed My Initiation
The first time I met Srila Prabhupada, he let me see that he knows me, and that he wants me to serve him. The second time I met him, he let me see that I ought not to be whimsical, and that he is served when I serve his servants. But on my third meeting with Srila Prabhupada, I almost threw it all away.
My Lunar Personality
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I mentioned previously my “lunar personality.” Say what you will about numerology, but I find that it works for me. Some devotees—I could name a couple Godbrothers, but I won’t—are into the Enneagram, a New Age system of personality typology. Like numerology, the Enneagram system analyzes the human personality into nine basic types. I checked out the Enneagram a few years ago but after a period of fascination I finally rejected it as being too subjective. Numerology is more objective because it is tied to objective numbers like the birth date. Indian numerology fits hand in glove with the nine planetary values of astrology, and with the three prakrtis of Ayurveda. It is not free of speculation, however, so buyers beware. Anyway, I am a 2, the number of Soma, the moon. Actually I am an 11, but in numerology, no number has a value greater than 9. So 11 is 1+1, or 2. Likewise, 12 is 1+2 or 3 (3 is the value of Guru or Jupiter). Even a big number can be reduced in this way—for example, 3471 is 3+4+7+1 or 15, which in turn is 1+5 or 6, the numerical value of Venus. 

But multiple-digit numbers (10 and higher) retain a scent of their multiple values even after they are reduced to a single digit (between 1 to 9). So being an 11 means I am a special type of 2. Regular 2’s are thoroughly feminine entities; they do not shine on their own but must reflect the light of a masculine power, i.e. number 1, which is the value of the sun. However, an 11 is a 2 formed of two 1’s. Therefore, while still being emotional and intuitive like other 2’s, an 11 is obstinate, revolutionary, and authoritative. Furthermore, since 11 is a mystic number, people whose psychic number is 11 are very mystical. Yet overall, 11’s are still 2’s, meaning that their minds are very much influenced by the moon. This is both good and bad, since the moon is both light (as on purnima day) and dark (as on amavasya day). Regarding the dark side, to quote from a book—“they (number 2’s) fall victim to their delusions and doubtful nature. They become mistrustful and anxious and are caught in their own internal dialogues.”
The Initiation
The day after Srila Prabhupada installed Sri Sri Radha-Gopiballabha, I and the other “bhaktas” and “bhaktins” (remember, we didn’t use those terms then) of the Boston temple were to be initiated in a morning ceremony at about 10:00 AM. Unfortunately, earlier that morning I fell into a darkened state of mind exactly as described in the quotation above. 

My name was posted on the list of those to be initiated. I saw the list. But I didn’t see my name. I suppose my own nagging, self-deprecating internal dialogue—“I’m not worthy to be Srila Prabhupada’s disciple”—forced my mind to censor out what my eyes were trying to show me. My doubtful nature willed that I would not be initiated. I was too useless, therefore I had to be passed over. Srila Prabhupada would not take me after all. 

And that is why, during the initiation, I sat somewhere among the many guests who were coming each day to see Srila Prabhupada. Funny, I thought as I watched the proceedings, there is an empty place among the initiates seated around the yajna-kunda: an extra paper plate with a three-strand set of neck beads on it. Who could that be for?

Names were called, and one by one the initiates came forward to receive their japa beads and names from His Divine Grace. Suddenly my name was called. 

Like forty-eight hours earlier, at that moment Srila Prabhupada finished his arrival lecture, I once again froze. What was I so afraid of that I could neither move nor speak when Srila Prabhupada called me to his lotus feet? “It is not death that a man should fear, but he should fear never beginning to live,” said a Roman thinker of old. In other words, I should have been more afraid of not answering Prabhupada’s call and thus not beginning my spiritual life. I was in the grip of maya in the form of a stultifying terror that I had inherited from many births in a world of savagery and deceit. 

The temple instantly went pin-drop silent. Tension charged the air like static electricity. I don’t believe anybody actually looked at me—all eyes were on Srila Prabhupada—but I felt everyone’s thoughts sweep across my gloomy mindscape like searchlights: “What are you doing there? What’s the matter with you? Snap out of it!” “That’s all right,” Srila Prabhupada said calmly. It was as if a Vaikuntha breeze swept through the temple room. The mental strain that my stupidity had put everyone under—not the least myself—went Poof!, right out the window. 

After the fire sacrifice, a disconcerted Satsvarupa came up to me. “Roger Prabhu, why weren’t you there for your initiation?” he asked, his eyes large with concern. 

“My name wasn’t on the list!” I moaned. “I didn’t know I was supposed to be there.” He led me through the temple’s side entrance into the hall where the list was posted. He looked at it, not saying a word. He just kept looking at it until I looked at it. There it was … my name, in the midst of the other names, right where it had been all along. 
“Oh,” was all I could manage to say in a small voice. 

He faced me and nodded reassuringly. “There will be another initiation this evening for the devotees who’ve come from other temples. Please don’t miss it.”
At the evening initiation I got my name, Suhotra dasa (Srila Prabhupada said, “Means ‘very nice priest’”) but due to a mix-up, I got no initiation japa beads. Or rather, Sridhama Prabhu, the Miami temple president, seeing that because I was a last-minute add-on therefore there was no japa-mala for Prabhupada to chant upon and hand me, gave Prabhupada his personal japa-mala! I didn’t notice this happening. All I knew was, I received from my spiritual master’s lotus hand these beautiful red beads that I immediately became attached to. After the fire sacrifice, Sridhama Prabhu came up to me and said, “Sorry, those are my beads,” and took them back. Mercy for him: Srila Prabhupada chanted on his initiation beads twice. 

My sweet Lord. 
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But the stalwart Harer Nama Prabhu came to the rescue. The next day he had me buy some wooden beads at Tandy’s (a hobby chain that must have sold thousands of beads to ISKCON devotees in the early days). I did a lousy job of stringing them (I’d never done that before). Since by the time I was done stringing them Srila Prabhupada had flown to New York, Harer Nama Prabhu personally took the beads to the Henry Street Temple and had Srila Prabhupada chant on them there. When he returned, I had my initiation japa-mala.
Some years later I lost those beads while on book distribution in the city of Charlottetown on Prince Edward Island, Canada. The beads that I use now were chanted on by Srila Prabhupada in Vrndavana. 

From my fiasco of a first initiation I learned that while I am prone to make mistakes in my spiritual life, fortunately Srila Prabhupada is prone to forgive them.
All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 20 January 2003
Be Doubtful
“Doubt is one of the important functions of intelligence; blind acceptance of something does not give evidence of intelligence. Therefore the word samsaya is very important; in order to cultivate intelligence, one should be doubtful in the beginning.” - HDG Srila Prabhupada (SB 3.26.30 Purport)

Great doubts, deep wisdom … Small doubts, little wisdom. - Chinese Proverb
 “Oh, You Are Chanting Hare Krishna Very Nicely.”
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The day after my initiation, Srila Prabhupada went to Logan Airport to fly to New York. This time I went with the devotees to see him off. Prabhupada sat in a waiting room chair while we sat in a great mass on the floor in front of him. He chanted japa, so we chanted japa. I was more or less in the middle of the group. Like everyone else, I had my eyes on His Divine Grace as I chanted. 

Suddenly Srila Prabhupada looked right at me and said, “Oh, you are chanting Hare Krishna very nicely.” Everyone immediately fell silent. I didn’t know what to say in reply, but my mind fairly shouted, “No, Srila Prabhupada! I am not chanting Hare Krishna nicely AT ALL!”
The “lunar mind” and its internal dialogue of despair. 

Srila Prabhupada made a lifting gesture with his left hand and in an almost urgent voice said, “Yes!”
	I offered my humble obeisances to his lotus feet. 


The purport is not (of course!) that of all the devotees present in the waiting room, I was singled out by Srila Prabhupada as the superior japa-chanter. He was teaching me the means by which I could get free of my internal dialogue of despair even when I was not in his personal presence. Yesterday he’d given me the Hare Krishna Mahamantra. If I kept chanting it in connection with him, my spiritual master, as I was doing there in the airport, then I would be chanting nicely. Then I would be nice, no matter what my despairing mind might tell me. I would be in Vaikuntha. 

I am still chanting Hare Krishna today only because of the lessons I learned from His Divine Grace in Boston of July, 1971.

Those lessons are my only hope. 

All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 21 January 2003
Growing Up In Japan and the Azores
Japan
When I was born my father was in the U.S. Air Force. He’d been in the Air Force since the Second World War, and stayed in until I was eleven or twelve. At age two I lived in Tachekawa, Japan. There is still a military air field there, but it is now used only by the JDF (Japan Defense Force). I checked Tachekawa out during a visit to Japan in 1997. 

As a child in Japan I used to run away from home repeatedly. I’d go to the bus stop near my house and stand near the big people. When the bus arrived, I’d climb on board, probably with the help of a kind-hearted lady. Then I’d ride the bus until the end of the line. This caused my mother no end of worry.

I still remember the Japanese beetles that glowed with iridescent colors in the morning sunlight. 

The Azores
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Here’s a great question for a quiz show. Which American school for kids from five to eighteen sits two thousand miles from the continental United States and nine hundred miles from the European mainland? And the answer is, ladies and gentlemen: the school at Lajes Air Base, which I attended from 1956 to 1960.

Lajes is a town on Terceira, an island in the Azores. You can find out more at www.lajes.af.mil. Featured on this website are photos of Lajes Air Base from the late 1950’s, exactly the time I lived there as a child. By seeing these photos you see Lajes through my seven or eight year-old eyes. 

Lajes is just a few miles from a volcano hot enough to boil water. Every once in a while a ground tremor would rattle our windows. The whole island is really just a two-mile-high smoking cone of solidified lava. 

No, I didn’t live two miles up in the air. Every place on Terceira is near the ocean, because the island is a submerged mountain, part of a vast abyssal range called the Mid-Atlantic Ridge. Ilha Terceira, “the isle of Terceira,” is one of a cluster of Ridge volcanoes that poke their heads out of the choppy waters of the subtropical Atlantic Ocean. These are the Azores Islands, a territory of Portugal. 

The capital of Terceira is Angra do Heroismo. I remember the bright Sunday that my father drove the family (Mom, my little sister Kathy, and me) to the south side of the island to visit Angra for the first time. It took about forty minutes to get there in our dark blue 1949 Mercury.

Seen from the sky, Angra is approximately shaped like a crescent. The inner curve of the crescent is the shoreline of a navigable bay. At the middle point of the shoreline a massive promontory named Mt. Brazil juts into the ocean. Ships and boats ply to and fro past its forested hulk. They are tracked from above by noisy sea birds and from below by silent sharks and barracudas. Inland from the shore a multitude of white buildings topped with red roofs marches up a dark green slope. The borderline along which upper Angra halts is the outer curve of the crescent. 

We visited the Misericordia Church, which is located along that upper borderline. We could look down upon most of the town from there. I remember standing on a stone wall to see as far as I possibly could. It was overgrown with colorful flowering vines. Small lizards with pulsing throats scampered amid the leaves and flowers. The wall commanded an impressive vista of the town, the bay, and Mt. Brazil. As I pranced about on the wall, the melancholy ‘tung … tung … tung’ of a hand-pulled bell sounded from the church tower. 

Way out in the waters beyond Mount Brazil was a bare peak of pale greenish-brown. It looked like a compact Rock of Gibraltar that had been chopped right down the middle with a Titan’s fiery sword. “That’s called Split Rock,” my father told me. “In the Second World War the Germans sometimes parked U-Boats between its two halves.” 

From the Azores we sometimes visited my mother’s relatives in England. I remember going with the family to see Nottingham Castle, formerly the abode of the Sheriff of Nottingham, the arch-foe of Robin Hood. We also visited Wiesbaden, Germany, from the Azores. In a hotel there I watched a German TV show, not knowing what the announcer was talking about.
“Time is the most indefinable yet paradoxical of things; the past is gone, the future is not come, and the present becomes the past, even while we attempt to define it, and. Like the flash of lightning, at once exists and expires.” 
(Colton (1780-1832)
All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra,, 22 January, 2003
What Does This Have to Do with Krishna Consciousness?

Big Bertha from Berlin has this to say: “All this musing here in In2-MeC about the human condition, about the unsteady mind, about melancholic philosophy, about memories of things lost in time. What does this have to do with Krishna consciousness?”
Cc. Madhya 20.102 and Purport:

`ke ami’, `kene amaya jare tapa-traya’
iha nahi jani—`kemane hita haya’
“Who am I? Why do the threefold miseries always give me trouble? If I do not know this, how can I be benefited?”

Bhaktivedanta Purport: The threefold material miseries are miseries arising from the body and the mind, miseries arising from dealings with other living entities, and miseries arising from natural disturbances. Sometimes we suffer bodily when we are attacked by a fever, and sometimes we suffer mentally when a close relative dies. Other living entities also cause us misery. There are living entities born of the human embryo, of eggs, perspiration and vegetation. Miserable conditions brought about by natural catastrophes are controlled by the higher demigods. There may be severe cold or thunderbolts, or a person may be haunted by ghosts. These threefold miseries are always before us, and they entrap us in a dangerous situation. Padam padam yad vipadam. There is danger in every step of life. 

Bhaktivedanta Purport to SB 7.6.16: In human society there are attempts to educate the human being, but for animal society there is no such system, nor are animals able to be educated. Therefore animals and unintelligent men are called vimudha, or ignorant, bewildered, whereas an educated person is called vidvan. The real vidvan is one who tries to understand his own position within this material world. For example, when Sanatana Gosvami submitted to the lotus feet of Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu, his first question was `ke ami’, `kene amaya jare tapa-traya’. In other words, he wanted to know his constitutional position and why he was suffering from the threefold miseries of material existence. This is the process of education. 

Bhaktivedanta Purport to Cc. Madhya 20.4: Srila Bhaktivinoda Thakura informs us that this letter from Rupa Gosvami to Sanatana Gosvami is mentioned by the annotator of Udbhata-candrika. Srila Rupa Gosvami wrote a note to Sanatana Gosvami from Bakla. This note indicated that Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu was coming to Mathura, and it stated:

yadu-pateh kva gata mathura-puri
raghu-pateh kva gatottara-kosala
iti vicintya kurusva manah sthiram
na sad idam jagad ity avadharaya
“Where has the Mathura Puri of Yadupati gone? Where has the northern Kosala of Raghupati gone? By reflection, make the mind steady, thinking, ‘This universe is not eternal.’”

But Big Bertha replies: “No, no, no. We don’t accept this. This is old-style preaching, just hammering the negativities, wasting time in idle lamentation. We want the nectar of Krishna’s pastimes and we want it NOW.”
Material knowledge makes an ass out of a man. It makes him forget his soul. He pursues “brilliant thoughts” and material “improvements” which in actuality are mirages and blind alleys. By the time he discovers how lost he is, it’s too late. At the end he is broken. An intelligent man at that point accepts humiliation as the only valuable lesson he has learned, but by then he is alone. His friends have deserted him and the pursuits which once seemed important now seem ludicrous. 

This is when he decides to dedicate himself to devotional service. With his body embarrassed by dwindling and weakness, he tries to renounce material life. 

Krishna is the ever-youthful hero of Vrndavana. When the old man discovers Krishna and tries to surrender to Him, he is liberated from the bonds of his body. People laugh at him, but he says, “I am not obliged to follow those asses and their institutions and slavish duties. I will worship Govinda by chanting and hearing His glories and I won’t care for anyone else.”
Bhaktivinoda Thakura says the ass-like man carries the burden of material existence on his back all his life. All kinds of materialists, from the educated to the illiterate, agree that spiritual life should not be pursued. “Here is one such ass” who has followed them and seeks meaning in this world while totally neglecting the call of the soul and the Supreme. It has all been in vain. 

This is not an idle song. Try to feel the loss he feels. See yourself in that position. See the whole world like that—the people growing old in quiet desperation, one by one realizing their lives have been wasted. The worst fools, of course, never admit it. 
Tatala Saikate by Srila Vidyapati
Tatala Saikate by Srila Vidyapati is sung as kahe visayi mana by Srila Prabhupada:

(Note: Vidyapati is well-known as a rasika poet. His poetry was loved by Lord Caitanya Mahaprabhu. Unfortunately mundane people think his poems express sensual ideas—see my Godbrother Yogeshvara’s remembrance of discussing Vidyapati’s poems with Srila Prabhupada in the Memories video series. But although Vidyapati is known for writing about “very high things,” See his mood in this song below.) 

tatala saikate bari bindu sama suta mita ramani samaje
tohe visari mana tahe samarpala ab majhu habo kon kaji
O Lord, completely forgetting you, I have offered my mind unto the society of women, children, and friends—but this experience has been just like offering a drop of water unto the burning hot sands of the beach. How can I possibly be relieved of this great misery?

madhava! hama parinam nirasa
tuhun jaga tarana dina doya moy 
ataye tohari visoyasa
O Madhava! As a consequence, I am rendered totally despondent. You are the savior of the universe, and are merciful to the helpless souls. Therefore I place my hope only in you. 

adha janama hama ninde goyayalun jara sisu koto dina gela
nidhuvane ramani rasa range matala tohe bhajabo kon bela
Wandering about in a half-alive condition, I spend my life in utter disgrace. Uncountable days passed as a frivolous child and a useless old man. I have been intoxicated by the pleasure of sharing romantic adventures with beautiful young women. When will I ever get a chance to worship You?

koto caturanana mari mari jaota na tuya adi avasana
tohe janami puna tohe samaota sagara lahari samana
Numberless Brahmas have died one after another, whereas You are without beginning or end. All of the them take birth from You and are again and again absorbed into You just like the waves in the ocean. 

bhanaye vidyapati sesa samana bhoy tuya vina gati nahi ara
adi anadika natha kahayasi bhava tarana bhara tohara
Vidyapati confesses that now, at the end of his life, he is fearful of death. O Lord! There is no shelter other than you. You will always remain celebrated as being the Lord of both the beginning and the beginningless. Now the responsibility for my deliverance from the material world is entirely Yours. 
All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 23 January 2003
Ideal Qualities of Lord Ramachandra

From Ramayana’s Ayodhya Kanda Chapter One

Lord Ramachandra was Bhagavan Sri Vishnu Himself incarnate on earth for the destruction of Ravana. Lord Rama had no peer. He was the reservoir of beauty, He was free from malice, and He was blessed of His father’s unparalleled royal qualifications. 
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Rama always addressed the people in gentle words and never used any hard expression even when spoken to rudely. In the magnanimity of His heart he would forget hundreds of evils done to Him and be grateful for even one single act of kindness. He relished taking time off His military training to discuss Shastra with wise and elderly brahmanas. 

When approached by someone, it was He who spoke first in greeting. Though everyone knew of His immense power, He was never haughty for that. He was truthful and learned and He always honored the aged. 

Lord Ramachandra was most attentive to the welfare of His subjects, and in return the people loved Him deeply. He was a friend to the poor, a chastiser of the wicked, and well-versed in religion, social customs, and law. He was worthy of His line, and always held the duties of a ksatriya in high esteem. He never participated in profane and irreverent talks. 

When questioned no matter on what subject, He answered wisely like Brhaspati, the spiritual master of the demigods. 

He was young, healthy, and virtuous. He was as dear to the people as their own selves. He had mastered the Vedas and the Vedangas and was skillful in the use of all arms, both ordinary weapons and those controlled by mantra. He was valiant. He was honest. He was the source of all good. He never spoke lies even in utmost peril. He was modest, reserved, and always respectful toward His superiors. He was never angry or jubilant over trifles. He sought no evil. He was free of idleness and ever vigilant. He was ever ready to scan His own faults.

He knew the means of honestly amassing wealth, and He knew how to distribute it to the deserving recipients of charity. He punished or rewarded the people according to the strict rules of justice. He had aged, pious brahmanas as His guides. He was well-versed in philosophy and poetry. He knew all the arts of enjoyment but He never sought pleasure at the cost of morality. 

He was an expert rider, a great warrior, and a valiant general who could successfully lead His army against His enemy. He was a master of military strategy. Even the demigods could not defeat Him.

He was not given to complaining, nor was He a slave of time. He was patient like the earth, intelligent like Brhaspati, and powerful like Indra. He shone like the mid-day sun to the delight of His father and to the benefit of the people. Bhumidevi, the personified earth planet, desired only the excellent Rama as her lord.

Jaya Sri Rama! Jaya Srila Prabhupada!

Kolhapur, Maharastra, 26 January 2003
Nice Son, Nice Father
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This is Paul Wexler, a Hollywood actor who played in movies and TV from the 1950s into the 1970s. He died of cancer in 1979, I believe. The photo shows him as he appeared in the 1954 film Suddenly, starring Frank Sinatra and Sterling Hayden. 

Paul Wexler is the father of Alan Wexler, who was initiated by His Divine Grace A. C. Bhaktivedanta Swami Prabhupada as Anirdeshavapu dasa. When Anirdeshavapu dasa took sannyasa in the 1980s, he received the name Bhaktividya Purna Maharaja. 
“Nice son, nice father,” Srila Prabhupada said upon meeting the father of one of his disciples. He told the man that because his son was a devotee, ten generations of his family in the past and 10 generations in the future would be delivered. 

Plutarch wrote that character is simply habit long continued. Paul Wexler’s life was replete with the kind of bad habits that screen actors are known to go in for. Nice son, nice father, but also habits bad, character bad. 

He was a sports car enthusiast. But his zipping around Los Angeles in a little British convertible resulted in a freak accident in which Wexler’s wife—Bhaktividya Purna Maharaja’s mother—was killed when Maharaja was small child. Thereafter Daddy Wexler took to womanizing. So as to unemcumber his sense gratification, he packed his young son off to Oregon to be raised by [image: image29.png]


relatives. Paul Wexler was a big party-goer, a drinker and a smoker. And of course he liked his steak, the favorite dish of the ‘50’s male. (Standard dinnertime conversation line of that time: “Nothing like a fine piece of meat.”) 

Nice father?

Paul Wexler acted in films like The Ten Commandments (he was an Egyptian soldier), Khartoum, and The Way West (little Alan appeared in that one too). He was the voice for a dog in the feature-length Disney cartoon 101 Dalmations. He often played black-hat gunslinging bad guys in ‘50’s TV Westerns like Gunsmoke and Have Gun, Will Travel (“brought to you by Twenty Mule Team Borax”). In the 1970’s he had a starring role as the arch-villain Captain Seas in the Doc Savage movie called The Man of Bronze. 
In real life he played the role of a bad guy too. When his son joined ISKCON, Paul Wexler was not happy. In fact he was so upset that he cut Alan (Anirdeshavapu) out of his will. Still, when he passed away, Anirdesh traveled all the way from India to LA to attend his father’s funeral. He found out that his father’s estate was in the hands of his second stepmother, a busty blonde bimbo who treated him like dirt. 

This is not one of those happy end stories, like Mrs. Scharf finally finding satisfaction in the fact that her two sons, Bruce (Brahmananda) and Greg (Gargamuni), had given their lives to Srila Prabhupada; or Kartikeya’s very unfavorable mother speaking Krishna’s name as she passed away, her eyes fixed on her devotee son who sat by her deathbed (hearing about this, tears came to Srila Prabhupada’s eyes; he told Kartikeya in a voice choked with emotion, “You have saved your mother!”). 

It seems to me that the only thing nice about Paul Wexler was that he had a son who took to Krishna consciousness seriously. “If you cannot get rid of the family skeleton,” George Bernard Shaw is quoted, “You may as well make it dance.” That’s all Paul Wexler was: a Hollywood prop, a skeleton on wires, moved here and there by the modes of nature. He was dead even though breathing. 

But Prabhupada said ten generations back, ten generations forward, are delivered when a son becomes a pure devotee. Thus this particular skeleton was made to dance. I can’t say where he is right now, but I’m confident old evil Captain Seas is dancing to the tune of the Hare Krishna mahamantra. 

Nice son, nice father. It’s the son whom Prabhupada mentioned first. So even if the father, stand-alone, is not nice, since the son is nice by having become a devotee, the father can’t escape being nice.
Visit to Paramount Studios with Yadubara Prabhu
Srila Prabhupada Surpassed Any Hollywood Producer
In summer of 1997 I visited Los Angeles for about ten days. My Godbrother Yadubara Prabhu, as a treat I guess, took me to Paramount Studios. We were part of a tour group led around by a chatty studio guide. 

The industry of illusion. You can’t help but be impressed. Movie-making has in its short history evolved into an exact science. Hollywood attracts talent from all over the world—not just actors, but artists, musicians, writers, sculptors, audio-visual technicians, computer programmers, interior decorators, clothes designers … I could wrack my brains to make a list of all the skills needed to make movies and it would still be incomplete. 

These people are motivated. They take risks. They work hard. They not only work hard, but they work together as a team. Making a movie is in some ways as complex and demanding as a military campaign. 

ISKCON is supposed to be a spiritual version of just this type of operation. Prabhupada was expert in engaging talented personalities in stupendous productions. Actually he far surpassed any Hollywood producer or director in orchestrating a spectacular show, because his was a world-wide production that never stopped! 
Right now the director Peter Jackson is working on the last part of his Lord of the Rings trilogy. It’s a three-year project of bringing each of author’s J. R. R. Tolkien’s three “Ring” epics to the screen. It’s supposedly the most ambitious extravaganza in the history of film-making. But after three years have passed and the third and last film is playing in the cinemas, that’s it. Everybody on the team goes home to count their earnings and enjoy their senses. ISKCON was Srila Prabhupada’s production for bringing the Bhagavad-gita, Srimad-Bhagavatam and Caitanya-caritamrta not just to the silver screen, but to the senses, mind, intelligence and consciousness of every human on the planet. A total spiritual experience! Jackson’s crew is on location in New Zealand; Prabhupada’s crew expanded to more than a 108 locations world-wide. And Prabhupada’s show just goes on and on, and not just on this planet. 

Well, that’s what Prabhupada wanted, at least. While walking through the sprawling Paramount Studios I asked myself, “I wonder if ISKCON will ever achieve this level of dedication, competence, and attention to detail?” 

Two Hare Krishnas, a Guitar-strumming Jesus Freak & Otto Preminger
Not long after I was initiated, I met Otto Preminger in Boston. The temple got an invitation from a local TV station to send a few devotees to a talk show. So Harer Nama Prabhu asked me to go along with him and Sumati Devi Dasi (who took over pujari duties from Rukmini Devi Dasi). Only Harer Nama and Sumati actually appeared on the show. I’ve forgotten why, but I ended up just watching from behind the cameras. Anyway, the show had a lady moderator, and her guests that day were—besides the two Hare Krishnas—a guitar-strumming Jesus freak, and famed Hollywood director Otto Preminger. 

[image: image30.png]


Among his many films, Preminger directed Laura, a romantic mystery starring Gene Tierney and Dana Andrews. It was a huge hit in the States and in Britain just after the Second World War. Laura was a favorite of my mother’s, who was a seventeen-year-old English girl when it played in theaters in her country. The script dialogue had some brilliant lines. When Laura (played by Tierney) innocently interrupts Waldo Lydecker (played by Clifton Webb) at his dinner to ask him a favor, he icely replies, “Young woman, either you were raised in an incredibly rustic community, or you are suffering from the common feminine delusion that the mere fact of being a woman exempts you from civilized behavior—or perhaps both.”
On the TV show, Otto Preminger said very little. Unfortunately, he did not take the prasadam that Sumati and Harer Nama distributed. At least he saw the devotees and heard them say “Hare Krishna” repeatedly. 

I wonder if he is dancing with Paul Wexler right now. 
All glories to Srila Prabhupada!

Kolhapur, Maharastra, 27 January 2003
Beatnik Hare Krishnas vs. Hippie Hare Krishnas
Syamasundara Prabhu, speaking in the Srila Prabhupada Memories video series, part 27, has this to say about the hippie culture of the Haight-Ashbury district in San Francisco during the 1960s:

“You have to realize the context, that there was nothing like this from the fifties. The age of small appliances and Ricky, Ozzie and Harriet. There was this slight clattering from Jack Kerouac, Allen Ginsberg and the Beat Generation somewhere in the background, but this was a revolutionary time, when thousands and tens of thousands of people were opening the doors of perception and leading a radical new lifestyle that had never been done before. And Prabhupada just stepped right into it and conducted it like a ringmaster. He was right at home right in the middle of it.”
In case that statement isn’t really clear to the reader, here’s some help:

“Small appliances:” Transistor radios, pop-up electric toasters, Norelco floating-head electric razors, electric eggbeaters, etc.
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“Ricky, Ozzie and Harriet:” In America during the 1950’s, one of the most popular shows on TV was Ozzie and Harriet, a weekly comedy about the Nelson family. One of the Nelson sons was Ricky, who became a noted pop singer. 

“Slight clattering from Jack Kerouac …” Earlier in this journal I made mention of the Beat Generation, which arrived in New York City near the end of the Second World War. This was an underground movement of writers and poets who sought the meaning of life by a kind of bohemian mysticism fueled by bebop jazz and street drugs. They chose the name “Beats” for themselves to indicate that (1) they were beaten down by modern society; (2) their goal was beatitude (blissfulness); (3) they moved to the beat of progressive jazz music.

The most famous of the Beat authors was Jack Kerouac. His first best-selling book was On the Road, which he supposedly typed in a clattering burst of creative inspiration onto a big roll of teletype paper, without going back to edit or revise any of it. Allen Ginsberg was a poet. His most famous opus was Howl which like On the Road was published in the mid-fifties. Ginsberg later became a spokesman for the hippie movement; Kerouac didn’t care for the hippies. Other seminal figures of the Beat Generation were William S. Burroughs (author of Naked Lunch, banned in the United States for some time after its publication in the late fifties), John Clellon Holmes (author of Go, the first Beat novel), and Neal Cassidy (not an author or poet himself, but being a total eccentric, he was a great inspiration to those Beats who did write). 

“Opening the doors of perception:” This is in reference to a poem called The Doors of Perception by the English visionary William Blake (1757-1827). The Beats and the hippies liked this poem because it seems to encourage drug abuse as a method of expanding consciousness. The sixties rock group called The Doors took its name from Blake’s poem.
A Future Historian
Someday in the future a historian with too much time on his or her hands will write a book tracing all the conflicts that arose in ISKCON during its first thirty years to tensions between devotees who came from the Beat Generation and devotees who came from the Hippie Movement.

No, I’m serious. Not that I necessarily agree that such a rift played a major role in ISKCON’s troubles, but this is just the kind of speculative scenario academicians like to cash in on.

Last December, when we were in his Vrndavana apartment reminiscing about the early days, Brahmananda Prabhu told me, “I considered myself part of the Beat Generation. The Beats made individual expression into a philosophy of life. They weren’t poseurs. The hippies on the other hand were into having fun and promoting a popular youth movement. In New York—at least at first—Beats and hippies were world’s apart. It was Allen Ginsberg who merged the two.”
In those days I lived neither in New York nor San Francisco. Being younger, I got into the bohemian scene a little later. But I, too, was dimly aware of the difference Brahmananda Prabhu pointed out between Beats and hippies. 

I gravitated to the Beats. I wasn’t looking for membership in a tribe. I wasn’t trying to define myself as a social entity. I didn’t seek the acceptance of my peers via the length of my hair, the clothes on my back, the drugs that I took, or the music I listened to.  I was looking for myself and God in the medium of experience. And I was trying to express myself and God through the medium of experience—i.e. through all varieties of artistic creativity, but especially writing.

I have to admit that this distinction I just made between Beats and hippies is ultimately just semantics. I think Beat poet Leroi Jones summed it up best in his autobiography. He wrote (I have to paraphrase because I don’t have the book in front of me) that the bohemian way of life he took up in Greenwich Village during the 1950’s was aimed at the immediate gratification of desires.

That airey-fairy “experience” I was trying to find myself and God in? It was just the experience of sense gratification. What else were the Beats and hippies doing except gratifying their senses? 

But still, there was a difference between the Beats and the hippies. It was not about the comparitive validity of their experiences. It was about their mentalities. Quite simply, the Beats were a literary movement and the hippies were a social movement. A writer necessarily works by him- or herself. But if your thing in life is to be a member of a social movement, then you necessarily work within your group. 

I have no comment about this state of affairs, other than that it reveals the age-old tension between the individual and the group. ISKCON, being a group formed of individuals, is not exempt from this tension. The tension isn’t necessarily rooted in the Beat-or-hippie backgrounds of the older devotees. It’s just there. Everywhere.
Crazy Beatniks / Nonsense Hippies

Syamasundara Prabhu is quite correct. The hippies were unique in American society. And Srila Prabhupada knew how to capture them for Lord Caitanya’s mission. At the same time, Srila Prabhupada said to Syamasundra Prabhu, “Well, hippies, they are nonsense. What is the value of their anything? They have no value. They are crazy, mad fellows. That’s all. There is no philosophy, nothing of the sort.”
And the Beats? They were certainly crazy people. Allen Ginsberg, Carl Solomon, William S. Burroughs and his wife were all placed under psychiatric care during the late ‘40’s and early ‘50’s. I remember picking up from my readings of Beat literature and poetry that it is a good thing, a creative kick or whatever, to be declared insane.

The hippie movement was just a much more popular form of craziness than the Beat movement was.

Thus Prabhupada came in the ‘60’s, not the ‘40’s or ‘50’s, to take advantage of American craziness at its peak. As Syamasundara remembers, hippies were in a frame of mind to immediately accept that Lord Jagannatha is God. They were madmen, but blessed madmen.
To Chant or Not to Chant
Yesterday (Sunday 26 January) I spoke to an audience consisting of doctors from the Lotus Hospital and Research Centre and professional people of the Rotary Movement in Kohlapur. This took place at Appa’s Complex, a lecture hall opposite Shahaji College. The presentation was in two parts. At noon I gave a talk on stress management, and at 8:30 I spoke on life after death.
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The members of this movement are called Varkaris, and they come from the villages. Such rustic folk are far less inhibited than city folk; they have no reservation about wholeheartedly jumping into kirtana. The city folk also know kirtana and they do respect it, but they identify enthusiastic chanting with the lower classes. So the ISKCON leadership here, Rupa Vilasa Prabhu and Vrndavana Ananda Prabhu, didn’t want to put our esteemed guests in an embarrassing position by holding a kirtana. The audience would hardly participate due to worrying too much about how others from their class would see them.

But they liked the lectures and asked many questions. Prasadam was served. All of the attendees filled out “response forms;” in this way their names go into a file for future cultivation. May the ISKCON Yatra in Kohlapur continue to grow and grow … 
All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 28 January 2003 
Listen! Visnujana Maharaja is Singing
vrndavana ramya-sthana
divya-cintamani-dhama
avtra kalini nire
raja-hamsa keli kore
tahe sobha kanaka-kamala
“The beautiful place known as Vrndavana is a transcendental abode in the spiritual world, and is composed entirely of divine touch-stones. There are many enchanting temples bedecked with costly jewels. The royal swans known as raja-hamsa frolic in the waters of the river Yamuna, which surrounds that transcendental island. In the midst of that divine river is a beautiful golden lotus of a hundred jewels.” 
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About Visnujana Swami Srila Prabhupada said, “By his singing alone, he can go back to Godhead.”

I first saw Sripada Visnujana Maharaja when the Transcendental Road Show stopped in Boston in early 1972. First Toshan Krishna Prabhu arrived as the advance man, arranging venues where the Show devotees would perform. I think they played in Amherst, a university town about forty-five minutes west on the Interstate freeway from Boston. They may have played in other places. For sure they put on a limited presentation (not the complete show) during the Boston temple Sunday feast program.
My Godsister Mahamaya Mataji gives a very apt description of the Road Show in Chapter 4 of her exciting book, Srila Prabhupada is Coming, so I’ll just quote her: 

The Transcendental Road Show was one of the most ecstatic experiences of my life. We traveled around in the buses with beautiful Radha-Krishna Deities, preached at colleges and universities, distributed massive amounts of prasadam, held ecstatic kirtans, performed well-rehearsed dramas, heard philosophical lectures by sannyasis, enjoyed Krishna-conscious guitar music, and more. We had a tie-dyed parachute backdrop for our rock band. It was unique. 

Started by Kirtanananda Swami for preaching in the southern United States, the Road Show rapidly expanded to a troupe of thirty-five devotees. Many thanks to Mahamaya Mataji for reminding me of the words to two of the show’s melodious songs, which I used to know by heart:

Lord Caitanya’s moon is rising,
And it’s not at all surprising,
That we’re singing in the street,
Telling everyone we meet,
We’re going home—back to Godhead.
This next song was sung to the Kiba jaya, jaya gaurachande melody (not Prabhupada’s original melody, but the one that ISKCON assimilated from India in 1971):

Hey, you don’t have to worry
All your cares will soon all be gone
Try to understand the problem
There’s no place for you to put your love 

So take this simple message
It will carry you so very far
Back to Home, Back to Godhead
Chant these names and give yourself to God

Hare Krishna, Hare Krishna
Krishna Krishna, Hare Hare
Hare Rama, Hare Rama
Rama Rama, Hare Hare

In the next excerpt, Mahamaya Mataji describes the arrival of Visnujana Maharaja at the Road Show’s headquarters—an empty airplane hangar in Orlando, Florida—in 1971:

Visnujana Swami, hearing the glories of the Road Show, came to check it out. He was based in Texas, running preaching centers in San Antonio and Austin. He loved our breadsticks and kittri and said we had the best prasadam. He immediately jumped into service. He taught us dramas, including one about Mrigari the hunter, performed with handheld tin masks that warbled when shaken. The Deities needed a better altar, and he built a new one. 
So in early 1972 the Road Show’s four converted school buses cruised up to 40 North Beacon Street to spill their blissful, enthusiastic occupants into our temple. I was over-awed, especially by the two swamis, and especially by Visnujana Swami. It was a potent program. As a direct result of the Road Show’s visit, five or seven new devotees joined the temple. Sahadeva Prabhu, who got initiated by Srila Prabhupada on the same day as me, was so inspired he went out and got a “preaching bus” for ISKCON Boston. We painted it blue with a big “Hare Krishna” in multicolored letters on each side. 

A number of Boston devotees rode in this bus to New Vrndavana in September ‘72 to attend Srila Prabhupada’s Bhagavat Dharma Discourses. In a later entry I will have more to say about that wonderful event. But here I just want to mention that at this time I met up with the Road Show troupe a second time. By then Kirtanananda Swami was fully occupied with the New Vrndavana project, so Visnujana Maharaja was completely in charge of the Road Show. 

When the Road Show returned to Boston in late 1972 with Sudama Swami, the mood had changed somewhat. Now the troupe performed a full-fledged rock opera. There were some new songs, harder and heavier; one was called “The Party” and was sung by a raucous-voiced Mataji decked out in witchy makeup and clothes. Yes, the Road Show certainly looked and sounded more professional, but at the cost of its former innocent charm, I thought. 

On his way to the Bhagavat Dharma Discourses, Srila Prabhupada caught the new show in Pittsburgh. Rumor had it he wasn’t so pleased. Some devotees played parts of drugged-out hippies, and perhaps they embraced their roles too closely to their hearts. His Divine Grace asked, “Are these our men?” Thus when the Road Show returned to Boston it was under a cloud of doubt. 

On top of that, a disagreement was cooking up between Visnujana and Sudama Swamis. Now, these events are more than thirty years gone and both Maharajas, great souls, are departed from this world. But right after the second round in Boston, Sudama Swami got together with Bali Mardana Maharaja, the GBC for New York, to redefine and redesign the program. The plan was that under Sudama Maharaja’s direction—he came from a family of professional stage performers—the troupe would remain permanently in the Henry Street Temple and work on “making it” in the New York theater scene. Like that old Sinatra song about New York City: “If you can make it there, you can make it anywhere.” Visnujana Maharaja was (how else can I say it?) given the boot. Scuttlebutt had it that Sudama and Bali Mardana Swamis considered Visnujana Maharaja just too bush league for The Big Apple. (Translation for non-American readers: scuttlebutt” means gossip; “bush league” means rustic and unsophisticated; “The Big Apple” means New York City.)
While all that was cooking up, I was morose in Boston. Not long after my first initiation in the summer of ‘71, Satsvarupa Prabhu was transferred by Srila Prabhupada to Texas. Before he left, Satsvarupa got Sahadeva Prabhu and me second-initiated by mail. We two were to be “senior devotees” in a temple where the “rank-and-file devotees” had been first-initiated on the same day with us. Thus within a month of getting my spiritual name I found myself wearing a brahmana thread. I felt over-rated and under-qualified. With Satsvarupa Prabhu gone, Harer Nama Prabhu was for a short time the caretaker temple president. 

One after another during a period of one year, three temple presidents were shipped in. Harer Nama Prabhu departed for another temple, I’ve forgotten which one. I stayed on in Boston and learned to do big book distribution, a new phenomenon in the ISKCON of that time. I traveled around New England with a team of brahmacaris in a sankirtana van. This was nectar, but we always had to come back to a temple that stood on uncertain managerial legs. So by the end of ‘72 I was looking for a way to stay on the book distribution road and never come back. 

To make a long story short, I begged Visnujana Maharaja to take me with him when he left Boston for New York. Trai Dasa, our new temple president, was not happy with me, but what could he do? As the Road Show pulled out before dawn, I jumped onto one of the buses. Bliss! At that time I didn’t know about the politics between the swamis. The same day we arrived in New York, SURPRISE! Visnujana Maharaja was unseated as the director of the Road Show. The very next morning, again before dawn, I was on the road with him and a half-dozen brahmacaris in the Radha-Damodara bus. We drove to Atlanta. This was the beginning of the Radha-Damodara Traveling Sankirtana Party (known popularly by the acronym “RD TSKP”). 
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Visnujana Maharaja fans Shrila Prabhupada at New Vrindaban’s Bhagavata Dharma discourses
tar madhye hema-pitha
asta-dale bestita
asta-dale pradhana nayika
tar madhye ratnasane
bosi achen dui jane
syama-sange sundari radhika
In the center of that lotus is a golden platform surrounded by eight petals. Situated upon those eight petals are the eight principal sakhis, headed by Lalita and Visakha. In the center of the surrounding petals the Divine Couple presides, seated upon a jeweled throne. In the company of Lord Syama sits the beautiful Radhika. 

The Most Compelling Preacher I’ve Ever Known
Visnujana Maharaja remains for me the most compelling preacher I’ve ever known, except of course for His Divine Grace Srila Prabhupada. Mahamaya Mataji describes Maharaja’s speeches as “heart-penetrating.” That’s an excellent description. 

But let me tell you right off the bat: traveling with him for nearly two years, I came to know his so-called “shortcomings.” I love him to this very day, but I won’t hype him to you as some kind of siddha (perfected being). Yet at the same time I do believe that, by Srila Prabhupada’s Divine Grace, Visnujana Maharaja attained perfection. (More about that a little later.)

The thing is, even his shortcomings were endearing. And that was very helpful to me in those sometimes dark days I served on the Radha-Damodara TSKP. To explain: he and I had similar mentalities. Everyone thought he was so blissful, but he had a melancholy side also. I told him about the depression I had struggled with in Boston after Satsvarupa Prabhu’s departure to Texas. He showed me a letter he’d gotten from Srila Prabhupada about his (Visnujana Maharaja’s) own depression. 

“I am glad to note that from your recent letter under reply you are feeling better than you previously expressed. So when you may feel morose, chant Hare Krishna mantra loudly and hear it. That will reestablish you on the platform of transcendental bliss. Sometimes it appears that the devotee is put into some difficulty unreasonably, but the devotee does not take even this adverse circumstance as other that a manifestation of the Lord’s Supreme Mercy. Anyway, such feelings come and go like seasonal changes and we should not deviate for that reason from our prescribed duty.” 

Then Maharaja told me that when Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu departed on his South Indian tour, even He felt perturbed in His mind due to separation from the devotees whom He’d left behind. So He chanted loudly like a lion,

KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA HE!
KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA HE!
KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA RAKSA MAM!
KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA KRISHNA PAHI MAM!
RAMA RAGHAVA RAMA RAGHAVA RAMA RAGHAVA RAKA MAM!
KRISHNA KESAVA KRISHNA KESAVA KRISHNA KESAVA PAHI MAM!
“He Is Going Far Away”
Thus while the bus was rolling down the road to Atlanta, Visnujana Maharaja encouraged me to lead the brahmacaris in what he called “a liberating kirtana.” I tried my best to chant like a lion. It was wild. But it really got rid of the blues. 

Right from the beginning he moved my heart with his honesty and simplicity. You see, as a result of the teaming up of Bali Mardana and Sudama Maharajas to get the Road Show out of Visnujana Maharaja’s hands, some criticisms were made about Maharaja to Srila Prabhupada. His Divine Grace replied in a letter to Sudama Swami dated November 11, 1972. It was in Atlanta, or perhaps while we were still on the way down to Atlanta, that Visnujana Maharaja read the letter aloud to all of us, his “boys.” Here are some pertinent lines:

“So far the Road Show and this Yoga Village are concerned, these things should be stopped. Simply perform our kirtana. If we divert our attention in this way, the whole thing will gradually deteriorate. He is going far away. All these things are nonsense inventions.” 

I still remember Maharaja’s voice—soft, calm, yet pained—as he pointed out to us that the “he” in the sentence, “He is going far away,” was he himself. He wanted us to know plainly that—at least at the moment in time Srila Prabhupada wrote that letter—His Divine Grace considered Visnujana Maharaja to be off the parampara track. Maharaja humbled himself before us and said, “Please consider this carefully and decide whether you wish to continue on with me. I have no choice. I must somehow or other find a way to satisfy my spiritual master. But you are under no obligation to help me. You all have your own relationships with him. If you fear your relationship with him may suffer in my association, then tell me and I will help you resettle in a more favorable situation.” He had the gift of crystal-clear diction that was ornamented by first-class vocabulary and grammar. His talks were so good you’d be ready to believe he prepared and memorized them beforehand. But no, that was just his usual speaking style. 
After he told us so straightforwardly about the letter, we all were ready to enter fire for him. At this point I should mention the other RD TSKP brahmacaris of that beginning period. There was Narada Muni Prabhu, Visnudatta Prabhu, Dayal Chandra Prabhu, Sri Ballabha Prabhu, Patatriraja Prabhu, Hasyagrami Prabhu, and Jamadagni Prabhu. Soon Jamadagni left, while Aja, Rksaraja and Sri Galim Prabhus joined. During the two years I was with the RD TSKP, these devotees—and of course Maharaja and me—made up the nucleus of the party. Bhakta Marty from Denver, who became Mahamantra Prabhu (and now is Bhakti Visrambha Madhava Maharaja), joined us a bit later. He too became a core Radha-Damodara devotee. 
A Revolver at My Head
By the time we arrived in Atlanta, I was so taken with Maharaja’s association that I went out on a Sunday, door-to-door, to collect $100 for him. In those days that was an almost unheard-of amount for one devotee to bring home. If a devotee came back with $20, that was really big news. I left Maharaja at 10:00 AM and returned at 8:00 PM to hand him $70 in bills and $30 in change. He was so pleased. 
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Another time I was going door-to-door in an apartment building, distributing books. This was before so-called “plainclothes sankirtana” became the norm in ISKCON. I was wearing dhoti, tilaka and shaved head. I knocked on a door and a man called from behind it, “Who are you?” I explained who I was and why I was at the door. I heard a woman say, “Open the door, let’s have a look at him.” In an instant, the door banged opened. I found myself face to face with a man aiming a revolver at my head. His wife was hiding behind him. I started preaching. Gradually the man lowered his gun and finally gave me a donation for a Krishna Book. I was so happy after that, because I had a great story to tell Visnujana Maharaja when I got back to the bus! And, yes, he was very enlivened to hear it. 

A Soft and Gentle Heart
Visnujana Maharaja was blessed with a soft, gentle heart. His prayer was that he might give that heart completely to the service of the lotus feet of his spiritual master and Sri Sri Radha-Krishna. What fascinated me about him is that this mood of devotion was completely natural, and therefore completely authentic. It had been awakened by Srila Prabhupada’s mercy in late-sixties San Francisco. Visnujana Maharaja, when I started traveling with him, had not yet visited India. In 1973 and thereafter, some tough, outspoken “made in India” ISKCON sannyasis started arriving on America’s shores. Not to say they were insincere, but I just found Visnujana’s homegrown sincerity more appropriate and accessible. It was not obscured behind a “swami profile that I suspected was a clumsy imitation of the strictness Srila Prabhupada showed in his preaching to the Indian public. I thought, “But when Prabhupada started preaching here to us—to Americans, Western people—he showed a different side: patient, understanding, yet quietly firm and uncompromising. That seems more natural and suitable.” It wasn’t a question of Visnujana Maharaja’s being “sentimental” (a favorite slur word of those times). He was just following Srila Prabhupada’s mood as he had personally experienced it. 
He told me a little about those days. Before meeting Srila Prabhupada, he lived in a tree on the Morning Star Ranch, which was a hippie commune outside of San Francisco. His name was Mark and his best friend was Tom (later to be initiated as Tamal Krishna). Mark would sometimes come into the city to make a little money by selling wooden flutes that he’d carve on the farm. He’d sit with the flutes spread out on the sidewalk in Haight-Ashbury, sometimes wearing nothing but a blanket with a hole in the center through which he thrust his head. 
He started visiting the temple on Frederick Street to join in the kirtanas. When the kirtana ended and Srila Prabhupada started the lecture, Mark would stretch out on the floor and go to sleep, sometimes keeping his head on the lap of a girlfriend. Before joining ISKCON, he got married. His wife was very attached to him. She did not agree to join, so they separated painfully. 

Visnujana Maharaja told me that he became serious about joining after Srila Prabhupada referred to him in his lecture (or perhaps it was in an instruction to the temple managers) as an example of a demon. It had to do with his sleeping in the class. Something like, “Here is a demon. Even he gets the opportunity to purify himself, he goes back to maya. So? Then go. Don’t come back again and again to do your nonsense here.” That’s not meant to be a quotation. It was Prabhupada’s mood, as least as Mark understood it then. It shook him up. 

Later, after he’d been initiated, Srila Prabhupada praised him: “You are advancing nicely.”
“It is by your mercy, Srila Prabhupada,” Visnujana answered. 

“No, not like that. My mercy is open to everyone. You are taking it.” 

Visnujana had attracted that praise of His Divine Grace because of his ecstatic kirtanas. But sometimes Srila Prabhupada had to chastise him still. Once Srila Prabhupada was driven to see the evening chanting party in the Los Angeles streets. Visnujana, as usual, was leading. But he was playing two mrdangas at the same time. Srila Prabhupada commented, “He cannot even play one mrdanga properly, yet he Beats two.”
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From somewhere Visnujana picked up a Mira Bai song that goes, “Gopala, Gopala, Devakinandana Gopala; Gopala, Gopala, Yasodanandana Gopala.” Srila Prabhupada told him to stop singing it. “It may have been sung by great devotees,” he said, “But it was not sung by great authorities.”
Being a musically talented person, Visnujana would invent melodies for the mahamantra. Once Srila Prabhupada saw him composing a melody at the harmonium. “And what is wrong with my melodies?” His Divine Grace demanded. 

Once Prabhupada asked why so many American gentlemen would go on walks with dogs on leashes. Visnujana answered, “So they can watch how their dogs are nicely passing stool.” Srila Prabhupada laughed and laughed at this. 

Visnujana Maharaja told us that he had personally witnessed Srila Prabhupada talking to his spiritual master’s photograph, eyes flooded with tears. 

Maharaja loved Sri Sri Radha-Damodara. Here is the proof. One morning at 4:00 AM, he was preparing Their Lordships for mangala-arati. By this time we’d left Atlanta. We were somewhere in the South, where winters are milder than northern states like New York. But this morning it was soooooo cold! And there was no proper heating system on the bus. It was so frozen that Maharaja couldn’t move his fingers properly. I remember him so clearly, coming out from behind the velvet Deity curtains, bundled up against the cold, a forlorn look on his face. “It’s so cold I can’t control my senses to serve Their Lordships,” he lamented. He was not complaining about the cold for himself. He was complaining for the sake of the Deities. That is love. 

In the beginning he used to do all the puja himself. A little later, when Sri Galim joined the party, they shared pujari duties. I remember once when Maharaja finished the morning bathing and dressing; he came out from behind the curtains in complete bliss. “Their beautiful forms are burnt into my mind!” he exulted. 

One time he was about to take rasgula prasada of the Deities. He held up the round white milk sweet and asked it, “My dear rasgula, have you come to break my heart?”
In Miami, Sri Ballabha climbed through the back door of the bus kitchen to rob the Deity maha sweets. Bhakta Marty (Mahamantra Prabhu) was the kitchen assistant (he did an excellent job of that, I might add). To get at the sweets Sri Ballabha roughly handled him, so Marty called to Visnujana Maharaja for help. In an angry mood, Maharaja jumped out of the forward door of the bus and chased Sri Ballabha all around the yard. As he ran, Sri Ballabha stuffed his face with maha sweets. This sight was so funny that Maharaja’s anger evaporated. All he could do was laugh. But whenever he would talk about this incident later, he would always compare Sri Ballabha to various demons in the Krishna book. 

The RD TSKP went through an evolution in its preaching mission. At first, Maharaja focused on college preaching. He tried to do a purer and simpler version of the Road Show. Instead of a rock band, Maharaja formed an amplified bhajan band with Rksaraja, Visnudatta and Hasyagrami Prabhus. They performed “new” Vaishnava songs that Acyutananda Maharaja had recorded on tape (like Gurudeva, Ohe Vaisnava Thakura, Suddha Bhakata, and Gopinatha with Maharaja’s beautiful harmonium riff). Instead of a psychedelic light show of swirling colors splashing the walls and ceiling, Maharaja projected a nice slide show about the Hare Krishna Movement, and gave a “heart-penetrating” explanation. Then he led kirtana, getting the audience off its feet to chant and dance. In tandem with this college preaching sankirtana, I led a party of brahmacaris in a van on book distribution sankirtana. 
State Fair Days

But the college programs weren’t so regular. For various reasons, they too often just weren’t possible to arrange. So then Maharaja started preaching in state fairs. In America, each of the fifty states holds a big fair or exhibition festival. For a week or so, the glories of a state (especially its farm produce) are put on display at a big fairground in the state capital. (i.e. the Minnesota State Fair is in the capital city of Minneapolis; the Arizona State Fair is in the capital city of Phoenix.) There are rides, contests, games, amusements, and stalls that sell all kinds of things. The exhibition in each state is scheduled so that week after week, a state fair happens in a different place around the USA. There are fifty-two weeks in a year, so fifty one-week fairs scheduled that way meant that Maharaja had a full year of preaching. He got the RD TSKP into the fairs as an “Indian boutique.” We preached from a booth that offered incense, clothes, posters and Prabhupada’s books for sale. 

Usually I was off somewhere in a sankirtana van instead of helping at the state fairs. But in late ‘73 I did work the boutique at the fair in Arizona. Three pretty Christian girls started hanging around the booth. They said they wanted to talk about God. I preached to them a bit, but soon I got annoyed with their behavior. They seemed too friendly and kept asking me to come out of the booth and go with them somewhere to pray. I told them I was a brahmacari and had no business leaving my prescribed service to do anything with girls. They got offended but still kept hanging around. Finally Visnujana Maharaja arrived at the booth. They complained to him about me. So he went to pray with them. They didn’t go far, just onto a grassy area near the booth, so I was able to watch what they did. Maharaja and the girls got down on their knees and each recited some prayer. The girls were very satisfied by this and went home. I still felt I was right to have stayed away from them. But I appreciated the way Maharaja dealt with them. It was innocent. This little story may sum up Maharaja’s nature best of all. 

Near the end of the Arizona State Fair, Maharaja told me to drive a van all by myself to the Houston temple in Texas. He gave me some duty to take care of there; he told me he and the rest of the brahmacaris would join me in Houston after a few days had passed. 

For two days I drove through some of the loneliest desert country in all of America. I thought I was really taking a risk for Krishna, driving such a distance all alone. 

But I made it to Houston fine. A couple days later I got a phone call from Visnujana Maharaja. The Radha-Damodara bus had just gone up in flames in the middle of the desert! The differential on the rear axle got overheated and the grease and oil inside combusted. The devotees barely managed to save the Deities and themselves before the blaze turned the bus into a charred metal skeleton. 

Maharaja went to LA and borrowed money from Karandhara Prabhu, the West Coast GBC. He bought a much better bus. The old one was just a plodding school bus, the new one was a long-distance coach. This was the first of a fleet of such buses. 
“I Can’t Do Anything with You”

In the later part of 1974 HH Tamal Krishna Maharaja arrived from India to re-join his old friend from the Morning Star Ranch. Their teaming up was when the Radha-Damodara TSKP started to expand: first from one bus to three, then finally up to a dozen. 

For a few reasons I didn’t fit into the “new, bigger and better” RD TSKP that grew up out of Tamal Krishna Maharaja’s preaching and managerial skills. So shortly I transferred to the BBT Library Party, which was directed by Satsvarupa dasa Gosvami. Still, in the three-month period that Tamal Krishna Gosvami and I shared on the Radha-Damodara TSKP, we became friendly. 

Once while we were in Gainesville, Florida, I complained to him I had a pain in my spine. TKG told me, “Well, you’re lucky because I know Japanese massage. I’ll have you fixed up in no time.” He had me lay face-down on the floor. Then he proceeded to walk up and down my back! He had to stop because he couldn’t control his laughter. Visnujana Maharaja was there too, and they both just totally cracked up. That was TKG’s “Japanese massage;” just a joke at my expense. But I loved it. I was laughing too. 

And there was the morning Berkeley that I arranged with the bus kitchen to eat one maha gulab jamun after completing each of my sixteen rounds of japa. At the end of my rounds I drank all the sugar juice that the gulab jamuns had been suspended in. Someone told Tamal Krishna Maharaja about this, so probably intending to teach me a lesson by publically embarrassing me, he informed me at the Deity greeting that I’d be giving the Srimad-Bhagavatam class. I suppose he expected me to be too intoxicated to speak sensibly. But I gave what the devotees said afterward was a “real fired-up talk.” It was then that Tamal Krishna Maharaja decided to send me to the library party. “Suhotra,” he said, looking at me with a slightly sour expression, “I can’t do anything with you.”

All glories to Srila Prabhupada and His eternal servitors. 

“It’s Wonderful Here!”
I mentioned earlier that I believe that Visnujana Maharaja, though apparently not a siddha during his life, did achieve perfection. I know this from a vivid dream I had in the 1980s. 

Under an intense blue sky I saw a huge, perfectly manicured lawn extending in all directions as far as the eye could see. The only thing standing on the lawn was a huge white temple in the distance. I walked a long way across the grass to the temple, and then I started to climb wide marble stairs to reach the ornately arched entranceway. I noticed a sadhu sitting against a pillar halfway up the stairway. It was Visnujana Maharaja. He smiled at me in the warmest way and said, “It’s wonderful here! When are you coming to join me?”

o-rupa-lavanya-rasi
amiya podiche khasi
hasya-parihasya-sambhasane
narottam das koy
nitya-lila sukha moy
sadai spuruka more mane
The waves of Their beauty and sweetness are emanating showers of nectar in the form of Their talks, which are filled with a flood of laughing and joking as they address one another. Narottama Dasa says, “May these eternal pastimes overflowing with transcendental joy by ever being manifest in my heart.”
“That’s perfect.”
All glories to Srila Prabhupada!

Kolhapur, Maharastra, 29 January 2003
New York 1973: Darshan of Shrila Prabhupada
[image: image38.png]


I am eternally grateful to Sripada Visnujana Maharaja for arranging a darshan with Srila Prabhupada for all of us on the Radha-Damodara Travelling Sankirtana Party. This took place in the Henry Street Temple in Brooklyn, New York, either in early April or late May 1973 (those were the two periods Srila Prabhupada visited New York that year). I think it was in May, because I remember the weather was warm and sunny. New York in early April is often cold and gray. If the darshan was in May, that might explain why it was so brief. At that time Srila Prabhupada stopped in New York for only a day or so, to catch a flight to London. 

By mid-’73, the RD TSKP had become quite successful in book distribution. In the sankirtana newsletter, there were different categories like large temple, medium temple and small temple. We were regularly number one in the traveling sankirtana party category, and our results were similar to those in the medium temple category. Visnujana Maharaja felt very grateful to us for this, so on one bright morning in the New York temple, he arranged a darshan for us with Srila Prabhupada. 

We followed Maharaja into His Divine Grace’s quarters. He was seated on a floor cushion in his bedroom, dressed in sannyasi cloth but wearing neither kurta nor garland. The room was golden with sunlight. Prabhupada’s skin glowed with a rich coppery hue. We all offered our obeisances. Srila Prabhupada gave us a friendly nod. His mood seemed light, yet quiet; humble and detached. 

Visnujana Maharaja introduced each brahmacari by name. He spoke about our sankirtana results and specifically drew Prabhupada’s attention to myself as the sankirtana leader. His Divine Grace gave me a bright smile. (It was a strange position for me, being introduced like that. Until that moment I had never considered myself to be the traveling sankirtana leader of Visnujana Maharaja’s party. I took some responsibilities for the others, that was true enough, but it seemed to me that we book distributors were just cooperating together under Maharaja’s spiritual guidance. I was not aware of myself as a wielder of authority.) 
Prabhupada spoke a few encouraging words to us about sankirtana, but nothing I can quote as an exceptional instruction or revelation. Then he turned to Visnujana Maharaja. I watched as, for just a moment, a glance passed between them. Wordlessly, something personal and confidential was exchanged. 

Was it just my imagination? Well, my older Godbrother Tejas Prabhu assures me that whatever Srila Prabhupada says and does has boundless depth of meaning, because he is the acarya. Everything about him is a teaching. And as he is teaching only Krishna consciousness, everything about him has transcendental significance. 

The bona fide spiritual master, by his personal activities, teaches the disciple the principles of devotional service. (SB 2.9.37 Bhaktivedanta Purport)

Thus I have no doubt that something meaningful passed between Srila Prabhupada and Visnujana Maharaja. My sense of it—if my sense of anything has any value—was that Srila Prabhupada was transcendentally anxious for his son. He was appreciative for the service Maharaja was offering: the sankirtana results, his preaching programs. But I noted from His Divine Grace’s glance that he saw something worrisome, too. From Maharaja’s side, I think, there was a look of pleading—pleading for reassurance from his spiritual master. It’s a cliché for me to tell you that the moment was intense … but it was. 

The moment passed. Srila Prabhupada smiled again and with his gentle eyes briefly touched each of our hearts. Without anything further being said, we knew the darshan had ended. 

As we offered obeisances to leave, a new brahmacari to our party, Bahushira Prabhu, spoke up. “Srila Prabhupada, you gave me the name Bahushira. Can you tell me what it means?”
Prabhupada cocked his head and uttered a polite, “Hmmm?”
Bahushira repeated his question. Prabhupada apparently heard the name as Bahulasva, for he said, “Bahulasva … he is friend of Krishna. “ 

And that was that. The darshan had hardly spanned three minutes time. 
 “This Boy Does Not Quit”

For a long time I’ve meditated on that look that Srila Prabhupada exchanged with Visnujana Maharaja. I never spoke with Visnujana Maharaja himself about it. After the darshan Maharaja was very grave; I did not think it was my place to pry. Thus all I can do here is offer the reader my inductive thoughts. 

Strictly defined, induction is the process of reaching a conclusion on the basis of indirect or circumstantial evidence. It involves intuition. If Paramatma blesses it, intuition is a powerful means to knowledge. So I pray to the Lord of the heart that my intuition be not amiss. 

In the time period of my association with Visnujana Maharaja—from late 1972 to late 1974—it was clear that his only real Godbrotherly friend was HH Tamal Krishna Gosvami. Oh, he was friendly to me and to the other RD TSKP brahmacaris. But there was nontheless a gap between us. Obviously he was senior to us and in the highest ashrama. Thus, until Tamal Krishna Maharaja arrived in mid-1974, Visnujana Maharaja was, in a way, isolated; he maintained distance from his sannyasi Godbrothers. I recall a comment from a tough-talking “made in India” swami to the effect that, “Visnujana doesn’t associate. He must be envious.”
I can’t agree to the envious part, but in fact he did not associate much with other sannyasis. He once revealed his mind to me about that. He knew that many of ISKCON’s swamis of that time were having problems. I’ve just made a list in my mind of the ISKCON sannyasis I easily remember that were in circulation around the USA during 1973. There were eleven (not including Visnujana Maharaja). Only two are still in the renounced order. Most are not in ISKCON in any capacity now. 

But I think the main reason why Visnujana Maharaja stood alone was that he was an eccentric. His eccentricity extended to his relationship with Sri Sri Radha-Damodara. I mentioned yesterday a rift between Sudama Swami and Visnujana Maharaja. It was a subtle thing, really; neither Visnujana nor Sudama Swamis were inclined to political intrigues. But they couldn’t see eye-to-eye about Visnujana Maharaja’s keeping Radha-Krishna Deities in a bus. 

Shortly before our RD TSKP darshan with Srila Prabhupada, Sudama Swami got a letter from His Divine Grace dated March 23. Now, in those days, when a senior disciple in the States received a letter from Srila Prabhupada, within forty-eight hours after he or she opened and read it, the contents were being discussed in every ISKCON temple in the country. So what Srila Prabhupada wrote to Sudama Swami was weighing on Visnujana Maharaja’s mind during the darshan. 

You mentioned about your Temple bus, and that is very nice. When I saw Rupanuga’s bus in New Vrndavana I wanted that there be a whole fleet. But you should not take Radha-Krishna travelling, better you take Gaura-Nitai. For serving Gaura-Nitai there is no offense, but if Radha-Krishna is there and there is some discrepancy, then there is great offense and this should be avoided. Therefore, I gave the same advice to Visnujana when I was in Pittsburgh. 

There was a number of sannyasi-led bus parties touring America in 1973, but only Visnujana Maharaja was touring with Radha-Krishna vigraha. It was public knowledge that Prabhupada had advised him that by traveling with Sri Sri Radha-Damodara, he was exposing himself to great offenses. But as I noted yesterday, he truly loved those Deities. Thus my intuition is that throughout all those years he served Radha-Damodara, a dilemma gnawed at his heart. 

It must have been a dilemma for Srila Prabhupada also. He didn’t like to discourage his spiritual son; at the same time, he worried for him. As acarya of ISKCON, he couldn’t permit the spread of a questionable standard of Deity worship. Thus the relationship between Srila Prabhupada and Visnujana Maharaja was, I think, under some constraint. This is a hard point to explain. I am not intending to suggest that their relationship was taxed or shadowed over. But there was some caution attached to it. Visnujana Maharaja did not want to displease his spiritual master, yet he was in constant danger of doing so. So he had to be cautious. Srila Prabhupada did not want to dishearten his disciple, but he had to be cautious about showing full enthusiasm for his way of Deity worship. 

I admit that this explanation is my opinion, not proven fact. But there’s even more evidence for it. Yesterday I mentioned the fire that destroyed Radha-Damodara’s bus. With my own ears, I heard Visnujana Maharaja lament that it was due to some offense to the Deities. So there is no doubt that he worried about this. 

Still, he did save the Deities from the fire, by Their mercy. And when he got another bus for Them underway, Srila Prabhupada remarked, “This boy does not quit.” There is no doubt that Srila Prabhupada appreciated Visnujana Maharaja’s sincere service to Sri Sri Radha-Damodara as we see in this conversation from July 1, 1975 in Denver. 

Tamala Krishna: He (Visnujana Maharaja) gets up early in the morning, wakes Him (the Deity, Radha-Damodara) up, cooks for Him, then we offer arati, then bathing and dressing the Deity, sings for Him all day. He’s so devoted to Radha-Damodara. 

Prabhupada: Svarupa-siddhi, arcana-siddhi. By simply worshiping Deity one can become perfect. Arcana-siddhi. 
Tamala Krishna: That’s a great advantage of our bus. Now we just traveled for two days in a row from San Francisco, but we did not miss one arati, we had six aratis, full prasadam. We took bath on the bus in our shower room. We had regular classes, kirtana all day. It was undisturbed. 

Prabhupada: So why not one week with Them (Radha-Damodara and Their servants)? I am prepared. 

All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Kolhapur, Maharastra, 31 January 2003
September 1972: New Vrindaban’s Bhagavat Dharma Discourse
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The Bhagavat Dharma Discourse in New Vrindaban, September 1972, was the high point of my life in terms of personal association with Srila Prabhupada. Not that I got a private darshan with His Divine Grace, or received some individualized instruction from him, or even rendered direct personal service to him. What happened in this period from August 31 to September 7 was that Srila Prabhupada trained me how to preach. For thirty years hence, I’ve been building a personal style of preaching upon the philosophical foundation he laid in my heart via his lectures of these days. 
I’m known in ISKCON to be a philosophical sort of devotee, but that too really started here, at the Bhagavat Dharma Discourse. Before then I was just a hearer of other devotees’ realizations. Afterward I wanted to explain my own realizations too. 

Realizations? In reality I was, and still am, a big fool. Gurudeva! Yogyata-vicare, kichu nahi pai, tomara karuna-sara. Karuna na hoile, kandiya kandiya, prana na rakhibo ara. 
Assorted Memories of New Vrindaban, August 31-September 7, 1972
Keshava and Buddhimanta Prabhus

For two weeks, during the middle of summer ‘72, Keshava and Buddhimanta Prabhus visited our Boston temple. These two blonde, square-jawed, powerfully-built brahmacaris were instrumental in sparking the big book distribution revolution that began in their home temple of San Francisco and then spread to other temples in California. Now they were on tour to teach the rest of us ISKCONians in America (and soon in Europe) the secret of how Srila Prabhupada’s hardbound books could be sold in great quantity on the street. Many times, Buddhimanta Prabhu had distributed in just one day a hundred Krishna books. In Boston they empowered each of us five or seven sankirtana brahmacaris there to do twenty to fifty big books per day. 

So when we pulled up at New Vrindaban on August 31 in our Boston temple preaching bus, we were happy to see Keshava and Buddhimanta already there. Like two Special Forces Commandos, they were camped in a tent on the grass. (More than a thousand visitors had come for the Bhagavat Dharma Discourse, and most of them had their own transportable living spaces in the form of vans or tents. New Vrindaban had no guesthouse then.) 

From as far away as San Diego, sankirtana devotees had converged at New Vrindaban to see Srila Prabhupada. The tent of Keshava and Buddhimanta became a popular place for book distributors to gather. Due to the vira-rasa that these two Prabhus emanated, these gatherings reminded me of soldiers swapping stories at base camp. 

The Bathing Hole

As we Boston boys were getting our bus ready for living in, Keshava warned me: “Wait until you see the men’s bathing facility. All I can say is, you can’t keep a brahmana thread clean in this place.”
New Vrindaban was a patchwork of several farms in the hilly countryside outside Moundsville, West Virginia. At that time the main farm was Bahulaban, where the beautiful Deities of Sri Sri Radha-Vrindaban Chandra presided in Their converted farmhouse of a temple. The Bhagavat Dharma Discourse was held in a huge festival tent on top of a hill that overlooked Bahulaban. To get there you walked a dirt road that snaked up the hill from the temple. At the bottom of the hill, just next to a curve in the road, a pukkur had been dug for the men to do their ablutions in. A pukkur is a Bengali-style bathing pond; it’s really just a big hole in the ground that is filled from a natural source, like a stream or a spring. 

The chilly water of the Bahulaban pukkur was soupy with mud. When you bathed before sunrise or after sunset, you had to bring your own flashlight because there was no other illumination. Between the pukkur and the nearby dirt road, canvas blinds had been erected to give the bathers the illusion of privacy. 

At this time in ISKCON in America, the male devotees had not yet learned the Indian custom of taking bath with a gamcha on to keep the body covered from the waist to the knees. As I soon learned with my own eyes, everything going on in the pukkur during daylight hours was entirely visible to someone walking the dirt road down the hill. Coming down, you were for a good stretch of road in a position to see over the canvas blinds in front of the pukkur. The ladies used the road too, of course. If I could see into the pukkur, so could they. It was shameful. 

The Outdoor Kitchen
I knew cooking from my early days in the Boston kitchen; but what’s more, when I traveled with Keshava and Buddhimanta Prabhus, they trained me in their own “powerhouse book distribution style” of cooking. One preparation I learned from them consisted of chunks of eggplant boiled with chopped tomatoes in a big pot of butter. Not deep-fried in ghee, but boiled in foamy yellow butter. 
A favorite sweet of theirs was called Eagle Rock. Make a pound of caramel by boiling a bunch of unopened cans of Eagle Brand sweetened condensed milk for three hours in a pot of water, then open the cans and mix the contents with a gallon of sour cream. These preps were for one sankirtana party of five or seven boys. Anyway, having trained me up in his extravagant culinary style, now Keshava considered me a chef of sorts, so we worked together preparing huge quantities of prasadam for the festival, particularly on Janmastami Day. This we did outside on portable gas burners fed by gas bottles. Here I first met Sri Galim Prabhu, who had come from Texas to stay in New Vrindaban as a cook. I also met Radhanatha Prabhu (now Maharaja) for the first time. Such a sweet, humble sadhu
. 

A Sea of Mud
One morning we Boston brahmacaris thanked the Lord that we were all able to fit into our bus each night, for when we got up, we found that a heavy overnight rain had turned Bahulaban into a sea of mud. The many visiting devotees who slept in tents were soaked and chilled to the bone. Being in hill country, New Vrindaban is often uncomfortably cold at night even during the summer; and if a drenching rain falls, it is almost intolerable for outdoor campers. But in those days devotees really believed in austerity, especially if the austerity was for getting Srila Prabhupada’s association. 

Driving Over Bhakta Tom 

A strange thing happened to me. When we arrived, we were directed to park the bus in a grassy lot on the far side of the paved public road that ran in front of Bahulaban. A day later, on a bright warm early afternoon, we were told the bus had to be moved to another parking place. The weather being nice, most of the Boston boys-including the regular driver-were not to be found. So it fell upon my head to drive the bus to the new spot. I had never driven such a large vehicle before. 

To get the bus off the grassy lot and on the road in the right direction, I had to back up and do a Y-turn. The bus wasn’t the only vehicle on the lot, so it was tricky. As I got on board I posted a bhakta (who was known to be sort of spaced out) as a lookout outside. Then, in the driver’s seat, I revved up the engine, shoved the big gearshift lever into reverse, and let out the clutch. The bus lurched for an instant, then with a metallic whine, rolled to the rear. Fine. I twisted the steering wheel to the right and began easing into the Y-turn. All at once there was a soft bump, then a scream. I tromped on the brake pedal. What happened?

The bhakta rushed to the driver’s side window. “Suhotra Prabhu, you ran the bus over Tom Prabhu! He was sleeping in the grass off to the side, and when you turned you put the back wheels right on him!” Tom Prabhu was a new devotee who belonged to our bus party. 

I was horrified but also incredulous. “Didn’t I tell you to keep a watch out so that I wouldn’t run into anything?”
His eyes and mouth formed perfect 0’s in his face. It was as if at that moment only, he understood what he should have done. “Uh … I did see him back there, but … well, I guess I thought it would be OK.” Abruptly he tuned me out and drifted away, yammering his japa in a loud voice. 

“K R I S H N A!” I jumped out the door and found Tom Prabhu on the right side of the bus crouched next to the big double back wheels. He was clutching his midsection with a shocked look on his face. Those twin tires had rolled across his stomach. Miraculously, as it turned out, he wasn’t injured. But for the rest of the day he did have a whopper of a bellyache. 

After seeing to it that Tom was OK, I managed to get the bus to the new parking lot. Feeling terrible, I parked next to a vehicle with Texas license plates. Some brahmacaris were standing beside it, talking. They were from the Austin temple. As I disembarked, one of them noticed my unhappy face. It was Prahladananda Prabhu (now Maharaja). 

“Something the matter?” he asked me with a concerned glance. 

I pointed to the bus and said, “I just drove that over the stomach of a sleeping devotee.”
“Were not the doer, Prabhu,” he said. That didn’t exactly make me feel better. 

Srila Prabhupada Nectar: The Hilltop Lectures
Srila Prabhupada delivered his first lecture on August 31. This was when he was received at the Bahulaban farm upon his arrival at New Vrindaban by automobile from Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. The devotees greeted him with joyous kirtana; he sat in a large red-velvet Vyasasana they had readied for him under a tree near the temple and gave an arrival address. Then he got in his car again and was driven a mile down the road to another New Vrindaban farm called Madhuban. Here he lived during the Bhagavat Dharma Discourse festivities. 

We Boston brahmacaris missed Srila Prabhupada’s arrival. Driving hundreds of miles from Massachusetts to West Virginia in a ponderous school bus, we didn’t reach New Vrindaban until later that day. 
In any case, the actual festival began the next morning. At about 7:00 AM Srila Prabhupada arrived by car from Madhuban and walked up the dirt road to the top of the hill, accompanied by an entourage of “big guns” (Kirtanananda Maharaja plus a number of GBC men and sannyasis). He entered the big festival tent and ascended a wooden stage to mount his Vyasasana. A great crowd of devotees and guests greeted him with kirtana. Srila Prabhupadas Vyasasana was to our left; to the right were big Jagannatha, Baladeva and Subhadra Deities from New Vrindaban, and the Radha-Damodara Deities from the Transcendental Road Show. 

After the welcoming kirtana, Srila Prabhupada chanted “Jaya Radha Madhava” and began the first Bhagavat Dharma Discourse. Today he spoke about the potency of the Vedic sound vibration, that this sound, which is the origin of creation, is given by God, that God has a spiritual body, and that we too are spiritual. The Discourse was concluded with another great kirtana. Srila Prabhupada walked back down the hill and returned to Madhuban. 

In each successive Discourse, His Divine Grace took us deeper and deeper into the meaning of Srimad-Bhagavatam. The Vedic sound is manifest as many scriptural texts; Srila Vyasadeva compiled these texts and then gave a conclusive summary of them in the form of Vedanta-sutra, which is the highest education. Yet after he completed his compilation of the Vedic knowledge he was still not satisfied. His spiritual master Narada Muni informed him that he was dissatisfied because he had failed to glorify the Supreme Personality of Godhead. Thus Vyasa composed Srimad-Bhagavatam. 
This literature teaches only the topmost dharma, which is the religion of the pure soul: devotional service to Vasudeva, who is adhoksaja, of a personal form and nature that is not material. Ordinary people miss this most valuable knowledge because of being absorbed in the false material conception of the self. They are like Hiranyakasipu, who was only after gold and comfortable bedding upon which to enjoy the company of women. The Bhagavatam teaches liberation (vimukti) from all such nonsense, but ordinary people go after the false liberation offered by science and technology. The Vedas also allow for sense enjoyment on the path called pravrtti-marga, but our real, spiritual life is to be found on the nivrtti-marga. This marga culminates in bhakti. 
Srimad-Bhagavatam teaches pure bhakti which is ahaituki or without any material motivation. Pure bhakti brings one to the stage of perfect renunciation in devotional service to the Lord, and pure consciousness of the Lord as Bhagavan—that Person who possesses all opulences. By performing one’s duty free of the bodily concept of life and by knowing God scientifically, one will love Bhagavan Sri Krishna, because He is all-attractive to the purified soul. To love God means to glorify His holy names throughout the world. 

How perfect an outline of the philosophy of Srimad-Bhagavatam! Every devotee should study these lectures to study the logic of the Bhagavat philosophy, to see how every element of the philosophy is fundamentally connected to all other elements. 

Here are two noteworthy questions and answers from the Discourse. 

Devotee: I’ve heard it explained that the body is made up of many, many different living entities, and the soul is just like a controlling soul. 

Prabhupada: What is that?

Pradyumna: He’s heard it explained that the body is made up of many, many different entities, living entities, or that each cell is a living entity. 

Prabhupada: That’s all right. What is the wrong there?

Devotee: Why is maya so very, very strong if our purpose in life is to be with God?

Prabhupada: What is that?

Hrdayananda: Why is maya so strong if our purpose is to be with God?

Prabhupada: Your purpose is not strong. 

Devotees: (laughter) Jaya! Haribol. 

Prabhupada: Thank you. Now have kirtana. 

Devotees: Thank you! Jaya! 

An Ecstatic Kirtana

Janmastami fell that year on September 2. I am pretty certain that it was on that day Visnujana Maharaja and the electrified Road Show Band led the devotees and guests in an exceptionally heavenly kirtana. Everyone danced like madmen and madwomen in front of Srila Prabhupada and the Deities. On his Vyasasana, Srila Prabhupada chanted along with the devotees, playing his karatalas and following Visnujana Maharaja’s lead. Ecstasy overwhelmed Prabhupada and he took over the lead, tears flooding his eyes. Everyone’s eyes became wet as His Divine Grace lifted us into a whole new realm of communion with the holy name of the Lord. Why does my heart remain a stone in my breast even as I remember his mercy? Everything Srila Prabhupada taught us led to this: crying for Krishna!

Janmastami: 2 September, 1972
After lecture and kirtana in the hilltop tent in the morning, there was a big initiation in the Bahulaban temple before the Deities of Sri-Sri Radha-Vrindaban Chandra. I didn’t attend it because I was cooking. I heard that when Srila Prabhupada arrived there, nothing was ready—no yajna-kunda, no paraphernalia; the only thing that had arrived was a mass of devotees too big for the modest-sized temple room. These conditions greatly delayed the initiation. But at last our Boston bhaktas got their names and beads along with many other candidates from temples all across the country 

Janmastami evening, September 2, 1972, is forever emblazoned in my memory. Srila Prabhupada, seated on his Vyasasana in Radha-Vrindaban Candra’s temple room, requested his sannyasi disciples who were seated on the marble floor before him to read out loud the first three chapters of Krishna book. This reading took hours! It lasted almost until the midnight arati. As I noted, the temple room was not very large, so most of the devotees were outside in the dark listening through the windows. Fortunately I got a ring-side seat right behind the sannyasis. It had been a hard day of service and fasting, so many devotees, even some of the sannnyasis, were nodding out during the reading. But not me! I was focused on His Divine Grace, and he was focused on the nectar of Sri Krishna’s appearance at Mathura before Vasudeva and Devaki. His association was so electric that I sat fully alert for all those hours. 

When the reading of Lord Krishna’s appearance came to an end, Srila Prabhupada joked that he would like to go on hearing, but we had no patience for it. Then Kirtanananda Swami stood up to make a short speech. He pledged the entire New Vrindaban project to Srila Prabhupada’s lotus feet. It was touching; his voice cracked with emotion as he spoke. Srila Prabhupada got up from his Vyasasana and with a broad smile embraced Kirtanananda, who nearly fell over with surprise. How wonderful!

Srila Prabhupada’s Vyasa-Puja

The day after Janmastami is Srila Prabhupada’s appearance day. This was celebrated in the hilltop tent. Srila Prabhupada had to interrupt the proceedings because we, his American disciples, didn’t know what we were doing. Finally we got ourselves organized and in order of seniority (sannyasis, GBCs, temple presidents, older brahmanas, and so on) we ascended the stage in single file to place flowers at his lotus feet and offer our prostrated obeisances. A lot of younger male devotees didn’t get the chance to do a direct offering, due to time limitations. Only one Mataji did—Silavati dasi, who at that time was an authority for Deity worship. 
It’s dumb to have to admit this, but I don’t remember if I got the opportunity to offer Srila Prabhupada flowers and obeisances or not. It’s possible, since I was a brahmana by that time (I got my second initiation in the mail a month after my first initiation). But I think that if I had gotten the chance to worship Srila Prabhupada directly on this day, I would recollect it. I don’t, so it may be that I worshiped him in my heart only. 

A big feast was laid out on the stage before His Divine Grace and formally offered. Then there was guru-arati with kirtana. When the ceremonies were over, Srila Prabhupada walked down the hill with his entourage. But the big American automobile that usually drove him to and from his Madhuban residence was nowhere to be seen. Hrdayananda Maharaja ran to his own car, a yellow Volkswagen “bug.” He brought it around in front of Srila Prabhupada, got out, and opened the passenger door for him. Prabhupada graciously accepted a ride in the humble little vehicle. (Some GBCs were displeased with Hrdayananda Maharaja for this; they thought Srila Prabhupada should have waited for his limousine.)

At Madhuban, Srila Prabhupada asked for a plate of the Vyasa-puja feast. With great embarrassment the devotees discovered that the feast that was offered to His Divine Grace in the festival tent had been completely distributed to the devotees. He for whom the feast was prepared didn’t taste a bite of it. Prabhupada tolerantly waited as a new feast was prepared there in Madhuban, for him and him alone. 

All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Nigadi, Maharashtra, 6 February 2003
Kolhapur Finale

At sunset on 31 January I visited the main temple of the city of Kolhapur, which is dedicated to Mahalakshmi. My visit was timed to an auspicious moment, because at sunset on this one day per year the golden-red rays of the sun stream through the entrance of the temple to illuminate the lotus feet of the Lakshmi deity.

The history is that each year at this time the demigod Surya carries a message to Lakshmi from Lord Venkateshwara at Tirupati: “Kindly return to My side.” The famous Venkateshwara (Vaikuntha Ishvara) Deity and Kolhapur’s Mahalakshmi Deity were originally together. But when Brghu Muni trod upon the Lord’s chest to test if He is really Bhagavan among the trimurti of Brahma, Shiva and Vishnu, Lakshmiji became too distressed that Her husband merely tolerated this insult. She left His side to perform austerities at Kolhapur. Therefore each year the Lord invites Her to return to Him.
It was my great fortune that I stood inside the pujari area to witness Surya touch Her lotus feet. (How was that? Because the brahmanas who serve Mahalakshmi—though smartas, not Vaishnavas—are favorable to ISKCON.) The head pujari turned all the lights off as the crucial moment approached. It was really thrilling, in a deep, spiritual sense, to see the beam of sunlight creep towards the lotus toes of the Lord’s eternal consort. I was remembering a verse from the Sanat Kumara Samhita:
sa tu sakshan mahalakshmi Krishna narayana prabho
na tayor vidyate bheda svalpo ‘smi muni sattamah
This means that there is no difference between Sri Sri Lakshmi-Narayana and Sri Sri Radha-Krishna. Similar to the pastime between Venkateshvara and Mahalakshmi, sometimes Srimati Radharani becomes so transcendentally angry with Sri Krishna that She won’t associate with Him until He comes to worship Her lotus feet.

After we saw the pastime of Surya and Mahalakshmi, Rupa Vilasa Prabhu took me to have darshan of the beautiful Sesasayi Deity who has been worshiped in Kohlapur city for some 110 years. Unfortunately the Deity is housed in a building that looks like a tile-roofed blue brick shed. This stands next to a bus stop on a traffic roundabout in central Kolhapur. 

The story of the Deity is that He was unearthed during an excavation outside of Kolhapur. The king ordered that the black stone murti—which is as large as a full-grown man, lying in full repose upon Ananta Sesa—be transported by elephants to a place he had chosen as the site of a temple. The elephants moved the Deity as far as its present location, but could not budge it an inch beyond. So a simple shelter was built around Him. Thus, nowadays you take darshan to the din of passing traffic. I hope ISKCON one day soon becomes influential enough in Kolhapur to be able to arrange for the construction of a proper temple for this very special Deity. As I stood before Lord Sesasayi I felt it was His plan that I was leaving the small Lakshmi-Sesasayi Deities I had been worshiping upon Rupa Vilasa’s home altar. Kolhapur is the city of Sesasayi. 

Then we went to a devotee’s home for my “farewell address” to the Kolhapur ISKCON congregation. The gathering was held upon his spacious rooftop. Over 300 devotees and guests attended.
Pune

The next morning at 7:00 AM, after a final short kirtana with the crowd of devotees who turned up at Rupa Vilasa’s place to see me off, I boarded a Tata Sumo for Pune (pronounced Poona). With me were Madhu Puri Prabhu and a nice Kolhapur bhakta named Amit, who is staying with me until I depart Maharashtra. Pune is an important center of higher education in India. [image: image40.jpg]


ISKCON’s Sri Sri Radha-Kunjabihari Temple’s main mission is to the large student community of the city. Under the able direction of temple president Radhe Syama Prabhu, the effort has resulted in a congregation of hundreds of young people. On the evening of my arrival I did a program for this group.

The next day I gave Bhagavatam class and then the evening Sunday lecture. After giving Bhagavatam on the morning of Monday, February 2, I, Madhu and Amit went by Sumo to Satara.
Satara 
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    After Bhagavatam Class                                                     Sri Sri Rukmini-Vitthal

Sachisuta Prabhu, an enthusiastic and well-spoken grhasta preacher, heads up the ISKCON mission in Satara. Like Kolhapur, it is strictly a congregational effort; there is no temple here. The congregation is smaller than at Kolhapur, but the mood is just as sweet. We stayed at the home of Mr. R.S. Mane, a retired Colonel of the Indian Army. This is my third visit, so he and his wife are my good friends,
I did an evening program at the nearby village of Koregaon, an afternoon lecture at a homeopathic medical college, an evening program at the Satara Rukmini-Vitthal temple, and a Bhagavatam class at Mr. Mane’s house on the morning of my departure, which was yesterday.
Nigadi

Today as I write this (Thursday, February 6) we are at the home of a devotee family in Nigadi, which is an industrial area in the vicinity of Pune. Here ISKCON has met success in cultivating the working people who flock to Nigadi from other towns. They are simple but enthusiastic. 

Early tomorrow morning we (Madhu Puri, Amit and me) board a train for Mumbai. I’ll be the weekend there at the Chowpatti ISKCON Mandira. On Monday the 10th, Madhu Puri and I will take the Raj Dhani Express to Delhi.
Sant Nagar, Delhi, 14 February 2003
From Sri Caitanya Bhagavata: the Treasure of Divine Love
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Lord Nityananda’s Glories from Sri Caitanya Bhagavata by Srila Vrndavana dasa Thakura …
This chapter describes the childhood pastimes of Nityananda up to his twelfth year, during which time he re-enacted the divine pastimes of Krishna, Rama, Vamana, and the other avataras of Vishnu. This chapter also describes his tour of different holy places which continued until his twentieth year.

On the order of Gaura Krishna, Ananta Deva had already made his appearance in the village of Ekacakra in Radhadesh. In this way, Nityananda Prabhu appeared like the moon from the sea of the womb of Padmavati, the wife of Hadai Oja. And just like the rising moon, he dispelled all the darkness covering the land of Radha by his auspicious appearance. As a child, Nityananda constantly played with his boyhood friends imitating the pastimes of Krishna. 

Once, his friends took the role of the assembly of gods, who were desirous of petitioning the Lord to relieve the burden of evil oppressing the Earth. Nityananda Prabhu took with him a child who was dressed as the earth, and together with the children who acted the roles of the different assembled gods, he went to the banks of the river Ganges. There he addressed the Lord who rests in the ocean of milk, Ksirodaksayi Visnu. At that time, one of the children took the part of Lord Visnu, and hiding unseen by the other children spoke in a grave voice that all could hear: “I shall surely be born in Goloka Mathura to lighten the burden of the Earth.” 
And so Nityananda Prabhu enacted the different pastimes of Krishna that the Lord performed during the Dvapara age. He enacted the pastimes of the marriage of Vasudeva and Devaki, the birth of Sri Krishna in the prison of Kamsa, the journey of Vasudeva to Nandagram and how he carried Krishna over the Yamuna river, as well as his return from Nandagram and how he brought Mahamaya who had just appeared as the daughter of Yasoda with him. 

He enacted the slaying of Putana, the breaking of the cart, Krishna’s butter stealing pastimes, the slaying of the demons, Dhenuka, Agha, and Baka. He also displayed the pastimes of the pasturing of the cows, the lifting of Govardhan hill, the stealing of the gopis clothes and the Lord’s bestowal of mercy upon the wives of the sacrificial brahmanas. He performed the pastimes of sending secret advice to Kamsa in the guise of Narada, the killing of the Kuvalaya elephant and the wrestlers Canura and Mustika, and the killing of Kamsa. 

Nityananda Prabhu also enacted the pastime of Vamanadeva’s cheating Bali of the three worlds, and took the role of Ramachandra. His friends acting the part of monkey soldiers pretended to build a bridge of floating stones across the ocean, in imitation of the pastimes of Rama. Once, Nityananda took the part of Laksman, and, bow in hand, would storm the palace of Sugriva. Once he took the part of Rama Himself, enacting the pastime of breaking Parasurama’s pride. Once, taking the role of Laksman he pretended to kill Indrajit and then swoon, hit by the powerful arrows of Ravana, the demon-king.

He would enact the pastime of having the medicine from Gandamadana Hill brought by Hanuman and would recover from his wounds after receiving the medicine. 

Nityananda spent twelve years enacting these kinds of pastimes. At that time, he went to visit the different holy places in order to purify them from the sins left behind by the pilgrims who visit them.

He toured the holy places in both Northern and Southern India, on the pretext of pilgrimage and in this way was occupied until his twentieth year when he arrived in Nabadwipa and met Caitanya Mahaprabhu. In the course of his wandering through the different holy places, Nityananda Prabhu met Madhavendra Puri, Isvara Puri, and Brahmananda Puri. Nityananda passed many days enjoying the ecstasy of Krishna-katha in the company of Madhavendra Puri and his disciples. He then visited Setubandha, Danatirtha, Mayapuri, Avanti, Godavari Jiyura Nrismha, Devapari, Trimala, Kurmaksetra and many other holy places.

At last he arrived at Jagannatha Puri, where he took darshan of Jagannatha Deva and was profoundly moved to ecstasy upon seeing the Deity. From Jagannatha Puri, he returned again to Mathura. The chapter closes with an explanation of Lord Nityananda’s renunciation. 

Lord Nityananda who is identical with the powerful Balarama himself, manifest during this period his pastimes of preaching the holy name in love of God. The chapter concludes with a description of greatness of Nityananda Balarama.

All glories to Sri Krishna Caitanya, the ocean of mercy. All glories to Nityananda Prabhu, the friend of the helpless. All glories to the life and soul of Sri Advaita Candra. All glories to He who is the only shelter of Srivasa and Gadadhara. All glories to Visvambhara, the son of Jagannatha Misra and Sacidevi who is always beloved by his devotees and followers. 

Before the advent of Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu, Ananta deva himself had appeared on the order of the Lord. He took birth in the Radhadesh to help enact the divine lila of the Lord. His father’s name was Hadai Oja and his mother’s name was Padmavati. 

He appeared in the village of Ekacakra within the land of Gauda. From infancy he was sober, highly intelligent and supremely qualified. The baby boy was millions of times more beautiful than cupid. 

From the moment of his birth there appeared within the Radhadesh, all-auspicious symptoms. All varieties of famine, poverty, and unhappiness immediately disappeared. On the day that Sri Gauracandra made his advent in Sridhama Nabadwipa, Nityananda Prabhu shouted with joy. The vast universe was pervaded with the sound of his cries and the whole world became astonished. 

Some said, “The thunderbolt has descended to Earth.” Many could understand that the mightly disturbance was the result of some divine power. Some said, “We know the cause. The master of Gauda has spoken in a voice of thunder." And in this way, everyone gave their different opinions. But by the power of the illusory energy of Krishna, no one could recognize the transcendental position of Nityananda Prabhu. 

In this way, keeping his divine nature unmanifest, the supreme Lord, Nityananda Prabhu delighted in the company of children. In all the games that the Lord played with the children, Krishna was the center. Indeed, their play was nothing but the lila of the Lord. Nityananda Prabhu would hold an assembly of the gods with one of the children acting the part of the Earth presenting the petition of the demigods to the supreme Lord Visnu. All of them would go along with the Earth to the banks of the river where together they would pray to the hidden Lord of the universe, Ksirodaksayi Visnu.

Unseen by all, one of the boys would loudly proclaim from his hiding place, “I will shortly be born in the cowherd village of Mathura.”

Another day, Nityananda Prabhu and his childhood friends would gather in the village to celebrate the marriage of Vasudeva and Devaki. Once, having made their playhouse into the prison of Kamsa, he re-enacted the pastime of Krishna’s divine appearance in the dead of night. Nityananda Prabhu built a cowherd settlement and took Krishna there, deceiving Kamsa by substituting Yogamaya for Krishna within the prison.

Another time he dressed up one of his childhood friends as Putana, while another boy, climbing his body pretended to such his breast like the baby Krishna. Once, having built a cart made of reeds with the help of the children, Nityananda Prabhu broke it. Nityananda Prabhu would bring his childhood friends to the house of the local milkman and steal milk and yogurt, following in the footsteps of Krishna. His friends never left his company, nor would they return to their homes, but day and night they would play in the company of Nityananda Prabhu. 

Nor did their mothers and fathers complain, but all loved Nityananda with their hearts and souls. He would hold his relatives and friends in affectionate embrace. Upon beholding his amazing childhood pastimes, everyone would say, “We have never seen such wonderful playing. How is it possible that this child has learned all these activities of Krishna.”
One day having made serpents out of the leaves of trees, he brought the children to a pond. One of the children would enter the water and float motionless. Nityananda Prabhu would awaken him. 

One day he took the children into a grove of palm trees, where they played at killing the demon Dhenuka and tasting the palm fruits known as tal fruits. 

He would often go to the pasturing grounds and there play many different games with the children. After constructing toy demons and naming them Baka, Agha, and Vatsa, he would kill them. Nityananda Prabhu would return home with his childhood in the afternoon, all of them blowing on buffalo horns. 

One day he would imitate Krishna’s pastime of lifting Govardhana Hill. Another day after constructing a replica of Vrindavana, he would play there with his friends. One day he would steal the clothes of the gopis and another day would visit the wives of the brahmanas engaged in sacrifice. One of the children would take the part of Narada Muni and disguising himself with a beard he would give confidential advice to Kamsa. One day one of the boys dressed as Akrura and took Krishna and Balarama away from Vrindavana on the order of Kamsa. Nityananda Prabhu cried in grief, feeling separation from Krishna in the mood of the gopis. Streams of tears would flow from his eyes in the view of all the children.

Influenced by the illusory energy of Visnu, no one could understand the transcendental nature of Nityananda Prabhu’s divine lila as all the children played in his company. After building a replica of Mathura, he would roam with the boys. Some of them would take the position of garland-makers and some would wear the garlands. Nityananda Prabhu would dress one of them as Kubja and would become perfumed by her. 

One day, upon making a bow, Nityananda Prabhu broke it with a thundering noise. After killing the elephant Kuvalayapida and the wrestlers Canura and Mustika, he would knock to the ground and drag away by the hair one of the boys who had been made to play the role of Kamsa. Having killed Kamsa he would dance merrily with the children. 

In this way, Nityananda Prabhu’s pastimes as a boy made all the people of Ekacakra laugh with delight.

Nityananda Prabhu imitated in his pastimes the transcendental activities of all the avatars of Godhead. One day Nityananda Prabhu played Vamana and another child played Bali Maharaja. In this way, Nityananda Prabhu would deceive him into giving the three worlds in charity as one of the children, dressed as an old man, played the role of Sukracarya and forbid the gift. Then, Nityananda Prabhu as Vamana, after accepting the alms of Bali, placed his lotus feet upon that boy’s head. 

One day, Nityananda Prabhu played at constructing a bridge of trees and stones across the ocean as all the children played the role of monkey soldiers. In this way he could chop veranda plants and throw them into the water, pretending they were giant trees as the children would shout “Jaya Rama! Jaya Raghunatha! Victory to Rama! Victory to the Lord of the Raghu dynasty!”
The Lord Himself assumes the role of Laksman, and bow in hand, he made his way to the palace of Sugriva in a fit of anger, saying, “You wretched monkey! My Lord, Rama, is becoming distressed by your actions. My Lord is waiting on Malyavan mountain, burdened with grief. And you, O wicked monkey, are busy making merry with women! If I am to spare your life, then go to Rama as fast as you can, and offer him your help.”
Another day, in the mood of Laksman, he would chastise Parasurama in anger, saying, “Brahmana, I can’t be held accountable for what happens to you if you do not flee at once.”
The children, in their innocence, would take Nityananda Prabhu’s absorption in the mood of Laksman to be nothing more than childish play. They did have any knowledge of his position as the Supreme Personality of Godhead. Some of them would roam about as the five monkeys, and taking the role of Laksman, Nityananda Prabhu would ask, “Who are you monkeys who roam the forests? Tell me! I am the servant of Raghunatha!”
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They would tell him, “We wander here in fear of Bali. Lead us to Rama! We accept the dust of your feet upon our heads.” Giving them hearty embrace, he would lead them to his master and bow down before the feet of Rama, falling flat like a rod. In the role of Laksman, one day Nityananda Prabhu was beaten by Indrajit. Another day he would play at killing Indrajit. Having made one of the boys take the role of Vibhisana, he would lead Vibhisana in the presence of Rama and then install him as the king of Lanka. 

Another child would shout, “Look! Here I come as Ravana. Beware the shafts from my bow. Let Laksman protect you if he can.” With this, the child playing the role of Ravana hurled a lotus flower at Nityananda Prabhu, who dropped to the ground, senseless, in the mood of a defeated Laksman.

Having swooned away, Nityananda Prabhu would not arise. Although the boys tried in many ways to arouse him in many different ways, Nityananda Prabhu showed no sign of life in any part of his body. The children all put their hands to their heads and wept and cried. Hearing their cries Nityananda Prabhu’s mother and father hastened to the spot. Finding no life in their child, both of them fell upon the ground senseless.

All the people of the village gathered there and gazed upon the scene in amazement. The children explained everything. Someone from the crowd said,”I understand the reason for all this. A long time ago, an actor who was playing the role of Dasaratha gave up his life upon hearing of the exile of Rama to the forest." Another said,”The boy is only acting his part. As soon as Hanuman brings the medicine and administers it to him, he will recover."

Of course, Nityananda Prabhu had already explained this to the children. He had told them,”As soon as I fall down, all of you make a circle around me and cry. After a short period of time, send away Hanuman. My life will return if the medicine is applied to my nose." But as soon as the Lord, who was perfectly playing his role, became unconscious, the children became very much upset. They completely lost their judgement and no one could remember Nityananda Prabhu’s instruction. 

They simply cried and cried, and called out,”O brother: get up!" But the bystander’s remarks made them remember the Lord’s advice. So, one of the children walked off as Hanuman and another child, dressed as a sage stood in his way. Greeting him with an offer of fruits and roots, the sage said,”Please stay with me a while, dear friend, and bless my humble retreat. Only by great good fortune can one attain the company of one like yourself."

Hanuman replied, “My work is urgent. I must make haste. I cannot stop; please excuse me but I must say goodbye. You must have heard of Laksman, the younger brother of Rama. Ravana has struck him unconscious with his sakti arrow. I must hurry to Gandhamadana mountain. His life may be saved only if I bring the proper medicine.” The child who played the role of Hanuman spoke all these lines as he was trained by Nityananda Prabhu. Everyone looked on in amazement.

At the request of the sage, Hanuman went to a nearby lake to bathe. Another child caught hold of his feet from under the water. In this way, the child took the part of a crocodile and pulled Hanuman into the water. The child-actor playing Hanuman dragged the crocodile to the bank and then defeated him. Then Hanuman encountered an even more formidable foe. 

A child disguised as a Raksasa ran after Hanuman and threatened to eat him, saying,”You have defeated the crocodile, but now you must defeat me. Who will revive Laksman if I swallow you alive?" Hanuman answered,”Your Ravana is a worthless dog. Take to your heels and be gone."

In this way the two children fought with each other until they had each other by the hair. They began beating each other with their fists. After some time, Hanuman defeated the Raksasa.

Finally, the child playing the role of Hanuman made his way to Gandhamadana mountain. There, some boys dressed as Gandharvas fight with him for some time, and, after defeating the Gandharvas, Hanuman brought Gandhamadana mountain away on his head. One of the children, acting as a doctor, remembering Rama, applied the medicine to the nose of Nityananda Prabhu, who was playing the part of Laksman. At last, the great Lord, Nityananda Prabhu regained consciousness and came to his feet. 

At this, all the parents and everyone else laughed. Hadai Pandit took the child into his arms and all the boys were delighted. Everyone asked,”My dear child, where did you learn all these things?" And the Lord would laughingly answer,”These are all my divine pastimes."

In his early childhood, the Lord’s body was delicately fair. No one wanted to give up embracing him. Everyone loved him more than they loved their own sons. By the illusory potency of the Lord, no one could recognize him as the Supreme Personality of Godhead. In this way, from his early childhood, Nityananda Prabhu enjoyed nothing better than rehearsing the pastimes of Krishna. 

All the children, giving up their parents and their homes, would constantly play in the company of Nityananda Prabhu. I offer my humble obeisances hundreds of times unto the lotus feet of all those boys who thus played with the Supreme Lord Nityananda Prabhu. In this way, Nityananda Prabhu perfromed his pastimes, and from infancy, nothing pleased him except the lila of Sri Krishna. 

Who has the power to describe the transcendental pastimes of Ananta? They are only revealed through his mercy, of his own accord. And so, Nityananda Prabhu stayed at home for the first twelve years of his life. At that time he went on pilgrimage, visiting the different holy places of India. He wandered as a pilgrim until his twentieth year and at that time he appeared before Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu. 

Listen to the account given in this Adi-lila of Caitanya-Bhagavata of the pilgrimage of Nityananda Prabhu the Supreme Personality of Godhead who is blasphemed only by wicked and sinful atheists. 

Nityananda Prabhu delivered the whole world. He is an unparalleled ocean of mercy. Only by his mercy do I understand the truth about Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu. Only by his means has the greatness of Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu been proclaimed. Listen to how Nityananda Prabhu, the best beloved of Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu, traveled to all the holy tirthas in India.

The Lord first visited the holy place known as Vakreswara. From there he traveled all alone to the grove of Vaidyanatha. After visiting Gaya, he went to Kasi, the seat of Lord Siva, where the current of the Ganges begins to flow northwards. Nityananda Prabhu became filled with joy at the sight of the Ganges. At Kasi he bathed in the Ganges, and with an unsatiated thirst drank its sweet waters. He performed his morning bath at Prayaga in the month of Magha and from there went to the place of his previous birth in Mathura. Having sported in the waters of the Yamuna at Visrama-ghata, the Lord wandered about Govardhana Hill in great ecstasy and in this way he walked through all twelve forests of Vrindavana. 

He visited the house of Nanda Maharaja at Gokula, and sitting down at that holy place, he wept out of emotion. Offering his obeisances to Madana Gopala the Lord journeyed to Hastinapura, the home of the Pandavas and beholding the place of those great devotees, the Lord shed tears. All those who loved there, being nondevotees, could not understand. He bowed down, beholding the glories of Balarama in the city of Hastinapura and in his ecstasy, shouted, “May Balarama, the holder of the plow, deliver us all!”
Then, Nityananda Prabhu went to Dvaraka where he bathed in the sea in great joy. He went to Siddhapura, the seat of Kapila, and at the holy place known as the tirtha of the fish, Matsya-tirtha, distributed large quantities of cooked rice at a great festival. Nityananda Prabhu visited Siva-Kanchi and Visnu-Kanchi and laughed upon seeing the bitter schism between the followers of Vishnu and the followers of Siva. 

He went to Kuruksetra, Priti-daksa, Bindhu-sarovara, Prabasa, and Sudarsana Tirtha, and after paying a visit to the holy tirtha of Trita-kupa, he went to Nisala and from there to Brahma-tirtha and then to Cakra-tirtha. The Lord visited Pratisrota which is near the Saraswati of the West. And from there, that great magnanimous personality, Nityananda Prabhu, travelled to Naimisaranya. 

At that time, Nityananda Prabhu went on to the city of Ayodhya and wept much upon beholding the holy birthplace of Sri Rama. Then he went to the kingdom of Guhaka, the candala, where Nityananda Prabhu fell unconscious out of ecstasy. Remembering the devotion of Guhaka-candala, Nityananda Prabhu was unconscious for three days. In all those forests, where the Supreme Lord Rama had stopped to spend a few days, Nityananda Prabhu rolled on the ground in the agony of separation. 

He went to the banks of the Sarayu river and bathed in her waters and from there went to Kausaki and from there to the sacred retreat of Paulastya the sage. After bathing in all the holy tirthas of the Gomati, Gandhaki and Soma rivers, he climbed to the summit of Mount Mahendra, and having paid his obeisances there to Parasurama, he proceeded to Hardwara, where the flow of the Ganges originates on this Earth. He then visited Pampa, Bhima-rati and Sapta-Godavari, after bathing in the Tirthas of Benva and Bhipasa. 

The great Nityananda Prabhu then had a view of Karttika and went to the mountain of Sri, where Siva and Parvati dwell. In the forms of a brahmana and his wife, Siva and Parvati resided on the top of the mountain known as Sri. Both of them recognized their own cherished Deity, Nityananda Prabhu, who had thus journeyed to the holy places disguised as an avadhuta. Both of them rejoiced upon beholding their guest, and the goddess Parvati herself, with her own hands, joyfully cooked prasadam for Nityananda Prabhu. As Siva and Parvati made offerings of food to Nityananda Prabhu with great regard, he smiled and offered his obeisances to both of them. 

The confidential talks which they held between one another can be understood only by Krishna Himself. Taking his leave, Nityananda Prabhu went to Dravida. After visiting Vyenkattanatha, Kamakosti-puri, and Kanch, he arrived at the famed stream of the Kaveri and from there went to the holy place of Sri Rangam, where he stayed for some time. From there he went to Hari-ksetra, and then visited Mount Rsabha. Then he travelled to South Matura, Krtamala, Tamraparni, and then journeyed northward to the Yamuna, where he visited the home of Aghastya on Malaya mountain. 

The people there were filled with great joy on beholding the magnanimous Nityananda Prabhu who accepted their hospitality, and from there with great pleasure, he travelled to Badarikasrama. Nityananda Prabhu stayed for some time at the abode of Naranarayana Rshik and passed his time in complete seclusion. From there he journeyed to the residence of Vyasa, who recognized Nityananda Prabhu as the mighty Balaram Himself.

Making himself visible, Vyasa welcomed his guest and the Lord offered his obeisances before Srila Vyasadeva. At that time, Nityananda Prabhu travelled to the seat of the Buddhists, where the Lord found them sitting together with one another. He questioned them, but no one replied in answer. Being angered by the Buddhists, the Lord kicked them on the head. Laughing, the Buddhists fled and Nityananda Prabhu continued on his pilgrimage undismayed. 

At that time, the Lord arrived at the town of Kanyaka, and after visiting Durga-devi, travelled to the South Indian sea. Thereafter Nityananda Prabhu went to the town of Sri Ananta and from there to the pond of the five dancing apsaras or celestial nymphs. The Lord then visited the temple of Siva called Gokarna. He travelled from door to door over Kerala and Trigartha and after beholding the honored wife of Dvaipayana, Nityananda Prabhu travelled to Nirbindhya, Payosni, and Tapti, in the course of his divine activities. 

He visited Reva, the town of Mahismati and Malatirtha and then the Lord turned westwards, journeying by way of Suparakha. Nityananda Prabhu was devoid of all fear. He was never afraid of anyone, throughout the whole of his travels. His body appeared weak, by reason of constant absorption in Krishna consciousness. Nityananda Prabhu laughed and cried at intervals. Who could understand his transcendental moods? Such were the travels of Lord Nityananda Prabhu as he wandered from one place to the next, visiting the holy tirthas. 

At that time, quite by accident, he met Madhavendra Puri. The body of Madhavendra Puri was surcharged with divine love for Sri Krishna. Madhavendra Puri was accompanied by all his disciples, who were filled with Krishna prema. Madhavendra Puri tasted no other food besides the mellow qualities of Krishna. The mellows of Krishna consciousness were his only sustenance. His holy body was the place of Krishna’s pastimes. There can be no greater praise of his love for Krishna than to say that the great Advaita Acarya Prabhu was the disciple of Madhavendra Puri.

As soon as Nityananda Prabhu beheld Madhavendra Puri he lost external consciousness, and lay motionless, being overpowered with divine love. As soon as Madhavendra Puri saw Nityananda Prabhu he also lost external consciousness and became oblivious of the world around him. 

Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu himself declared again and again that Madhavendra Puri is the original teacher of pure devotion. As Nityananda Prabhu and Madhavendra Puri fainted upon seeing one another, Isvara Puri and all the other disciples of Madhavendra Puri wept. 

After regaining external consciousness, both of them began to embrace one another, crying tears of ecstasy. The two great teachers rolled on the ground in the ecstasy of divine love, and, transformed by their jubilation, shouted words of joy with voices of thunder. Tears of love flowed like rivers from the eyes of those two great masters. And wet with their tears, the Earth felt blessed. There was no end to the display of transcendental ecstasy shown by those two great souls whose bodies shivered as tears flowed from their eyes and their hair stood on end, for Caitanya Mahaprabhu himself danced within their hearts.

Nityananda Prabhu said, “Today I have obtained the complete fulfillment of all the pilgrimages that I have ever performed, for today, my eyes have beheld the holy feet of Madhavendra Puri. My life is glorified by witnessing such divine love as his.”
Holding Nityananda Prabhu in a close embrace, Madhavendra Puri, choked with divine love, could utter no words of reply. And in his joy, Madhavendra Puri had no wish to release Nityananda Prabhu from his embrace. 

Isvara Puri, Brahmananda Puri, and all the other disciples of Madhavendra Puri, felt irresitably attracted to Nityananda Prabhu. Although they had met so many renounced saints, they could detect no trace of love for Krishna in any of them. And by meeting those unfortunate and wicked souls, they gaines nothing but grief. And being aggrieved, they sought refuge in the forests. But now they were relieved of all their sorrows upon beholding in one another the manifestation of love for Krishna. 

For days, Nityananda Prabhu travelled in the company of Madhavendra Puri, delighting in discussing the pastimes of Krishna. Madhavendra Puri’s devotional service is wonderful to speak of. He would faint upon seeing a blackish cloud. Day and night, intoxicated by love for Krishna, he laughed and cried, ranted and raved, and shouted in grief just like a drunkard. 

And Nityananda Prabhu, intoxicated with the nectar of Govinda’s sweetness, would stagger and stumble. Falling on the ground, he would laugh heartily. On beholding the wonderful mood of Madhavendra Puri and Nityananda Prabhu, the brotherhood of disciples constantly chanted the name of Hari. Intoxicated by the sweet taste of divine love, no one knew when it was day or night, and time lost all meaning. Who can understand the talks that Nityananda Prabhu had with Madhavendra Puri? Only Krishna knows their meaning. Madhavendra Puri could not bear to part company with Nityananda Prabhu, but took delight in his constant association. 

He said, “Although I have traveled to many holy tirthas, I could find no divine love of Godhead such as yours anywhere. Having obtained the company of such a friend as Nityananda Prabhu, I have realized the mercy of Krishna. Krishna is so kind! Wherever one can get the association of Nityananda Prabhu, that place is more than Vaikuntha and all the holy tirthas combined. If one only hears of the devotion of such a devotee as Nityananda Prabhu, he is sure to attain Sri Krishnacandra. And whoever has the least bit of aversion to Nityananda Prabhu, can never be loved by Krishna even if he is a devotee of Krishna.”
In this way, Madhavendra Puri glorified Nityananda Prabhu day and night and served him with love and attention. Nityananda Prabhu himself thought of Madhavendra Puri as his guru and thus engaged, those two great souls were so absorbed in love of Krishna that they could not tell whether it was day or night. 

In this way, after passing some time in the company of Madhavendra Puri, Nityananda Prabhu set out on his journey to the bridge of Rama known as Setubandha, at the southernmost tip of India.

Madhavendra Puri went off to visit the Sarayu river. Being completely absorbed in Krishna, neither of them could remember anything of their own physical bodies. Completely forgetful of their own selves, they passed their days in the agony of separation from each other and so their life was preserved. For if any external consciousness had remained, it would have been impossible for them to survive the agony of separation. Whoever hears this account of Nityananda Prabhu and Madhavendra Puri with faith and devotion, obtains the treasure of love for Krishna.

In this way, Nityananda Prabhu wandered about in the ecstasy of divine love and after some time arrived at Setubandha, the bridge of Rama. After bathing in the ghat at Dana-tirtha, he went to Ramesvara, and from there, arrived in Vijayanagar. Having visited Mayapuri, Avanti, and Godavari, the Lord arrived at the seat of Jiyur-Nrismhadeva. He visited Trimala, and the sacred shrine of Kurmanatha. At last he set out to behold Sri Jagannatha-deva, the moon of Nilacala. 

As soon as he entered the city of Lord Jagannatha, the blissful master of Nilacala, he fainted away upon beholding the sight of the Lord’s cakra. He took darsan of Jagannatha, seeing his fourfold form as the Caturvyuha fully manifest in all his joyousness with the whole body of his servitors. Nityananda Prabhu lost his consciousness in the ecstasy of that vision, and once recovering, lost it again. This went on again and again. Nityananda Prabhu experienced shivering, perspiration, tears of joy falling on the ground, shouting words of ecstasy in a thunderous voice.

Who can describe the ecstasy of Nityananda Prabhu? After spending some time in this way in Jagannatha Puri, Nityananda Prabhu resumed his journey and with great enthusiasm, visited the place where the Ganges meets the ocean. Who can fully describe all his travels to the different holy places? I have only recorded a fraction of them, by his mercy. After visiting the holy tirthas in this way, Nityananda Prabhu returned to Mathura. He took up residence in Vrindavana and stayed there day and night absorbed in thoughts of Krishna.

He ate nothing, and only now and then would drink some milk if someone gave it to him without his asking for it. Nityananda Prabhu thought to himself,”Sri Gauracandra is staying in Nabadwipa, but his divine glory is remaining concealed. As soon as the Lord chooses to manifest his divinity, I shall immediately go to Nabadwipa and fulfill my role in his service."

In this way, having made up his mind, Nityananda Prabhu neither went to Nabadwipa, nor left Mathura, but sported constantly in the waters of the Yamuna and played in the dust of Vrindavana with the children.

And although Nityananda Prabhu possesses complete potency in all respects, he abstained from bestowing devotion for Visnu upon anyone. Thinking for himself that when Lord Gauracandra would manifest himself, then the time would come for performing the pastime of distributing divine love on the order of the Lord. By thinking that nothing should be done except by the command of Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu, the greatness of the lord’s service is not reduced, and so Nityananda Prabhu awaited the command of the Lord. 

Nothing moves without the order of the Supreme Lord, Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu. And no one can do anything without his sanction, even if he is Ananta, Brahma, Siva, or any of the gods. The destroyers, rulers, and maintainers of the universe do their duty only upon the order of Sri Caitanya. Those sinners who are aggrieved in their minds by this, are completely unfit to be seen by a Vaishnava. The three worlds are witness to the fact that everyone obtained the treausre of love of god by the mercy of Nityananda Prabhu. He is the first of Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu’s devotees. His tongue treasures the glorious praise of Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu.

Nityananda Prabhu discourses on Caitanya night and day; by serving him, devotion to Sri Caitanya is obtained. All glories to Nityananda Prabhu the primeval Lord, by whose mercy we can understand the glories of Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu. Attachment to Nityananda Prabhu is the gift of Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu’s mercy. For one who knows Nityananda Prabhu there is no danger anywhere. If someone wishes to cross beyond this world of darkness and dive into the ocean of devotion, let him serve the moonlike Nityananda. Some say that Nityananda Prabhu is Balarama Himself. Others say that he is the abode of divine love for Sri Caitanya; let them say whatever they like. Whether Nityananda Prabhu is an ascetic, a devotee, or a sage; whatever he may be in relationship to Sri Caitanya, may his lotus feet be implanted firmly within the hearts of everyone. If after hearing all the good qualities of Nityananda Prabhu, there is still a sinful soul left who doesn’t appreciate him or who wants to slander him or blaspheme him in any way, then I kick on his face with my left foot.

Certain followers of Sri Caitanya speak of Nityananda Prabhu in such a way that although they appear to speak ill of him, they are really praising him. Such exalted Vaishnavas (like Advaita Acarya) are always pure in heart and transcendentally honest. Their seeming disagreement and quarrel is simply lila or sport. 

If one looks at their disagreement externally and takes the side of one, slandering the other, he will be finished. By following only those who deprecate all slander of Nityananda, Sri Caitanya is attained. When will that day be mine when I shall obtain the divine vision of Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu and Nityananda Prabhu, surrounded by the assembly of devotees? May Nityananda Prabhu be my eternal master in every way. Remaining loyal to Nityananda Prabhu, may I serve the holy feet of Sri Gauracandra. May I read the holy Bhagavata at the feet of Nityananda Prabhu birth after birth.

This is my aspiration. All glories to the Supreme Lord, Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu. You gave us Nityananda Prabhu and you took Him away from us. And yet, O Mahaprabhu, grant me this one favor—that my mind may remain always attached to You and to Nityananda Prabhu. He is your greatest devotee; without your consent, no one can attain his lotus feet. Nityananda Prabhu roamed throughout Vrindavana and different holy places until Sri Caitanya Mahaprabhu manifest His divinity. Whoever listens to this account of the pilgrimages of Nityananda Prabhu attains the treasure of divine love. 

Sri Krishna Caitanya is the life and soul of Nityananda Prabhu. Vrindavana Dasa, praying at Their lotus feet sings Sri Caitanya Bhagavata.
All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
Sant Nagar, Delhi, 16 February 2003 
Quick Trip to Sri Vrndavana Dhama
Yesterday I went to Sri Vrndavana Dhama for Lord Nityananda’s appearance day. I left with Haritasva das from Sweden (Madhu Puri was too ill to go) at 7:00 AM by rented auto. We arrived at 10:00 AM, just in time for the abhisheka. I was invited to bathe the utsava murtis of Sri-Sri Gaura-Nitai by a pujari whom I’ve known for many years. Then I visited Srila Prabhupada at his rooms at Radha-Damodara temple. Prabhupada said he eternally resides there, and I personally find him most accessible here, more than other places where he is present (his samadhi mandiras, for example). Then I took bath in the Yamuna.
I visited the MVT flat of my dear Godbrother Brahmananda Prabhu. And who should let me in the door—but another dear Godbrother, Jagajivan Prabhu, whom I’ve not seen for fifteen years or so. We had a nice talk for half an hour, then Jagajivan Prabhu went to visit Prthu Prabhu at the hospital. He’d been gored by a cow a few days before. That’s a very dangerous sort of injury, so I hope Prthu Prabhu recovers without complications.
Brahmananda Prabhu and I had lunch together. Then I visited his brother Gargamuni Prabhu at his office across the street. Finally it was time to catch the auto back to Dehli. Today Madhu Puri and I take the Raj Dhani Express to Calcutta. Earlier I’d stated he’d fly to Sweden, but that is changed now. A long story.
All glories to Srila Prabhupada!

Tarunpur, Mayapur, 23 February 2003
We arrived in Mayapur the 17th of February. I stay in a bhajan kutir, built by Murarigupta das, two kilometers east of Mayapur in a small village called Tarunpur. 
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(L)With Murarigupta and his daughter Sudevi (R) My kutir altar
Murarigupta Prabhu has also built a Japanese style rock garden just outside the entrance to my hut. The theme is the mathematical constant pi that is used for calculating the diameter of a circle. The garden features the symbol pi in the center of a set of circles and a triangle. 
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Shri Murarigupta’s bungalow and garden
All glories to Srila Prabhupada!
